The University of San Francisco USF Scholarship: a digital repository @ Gleeson Library | Geschke Center

Master's Theses

Theses, Dissertations, Capstones and Projects

Winter 12-18-2015

The German Army at a Crossroads of Modernization

Sarah E. Liebig *University of San Francisco*, seliebig@dons.usfca.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://repository.usfca.edu/thes

Part of the <u>Cultural History Commons</u>, <u>Defense and Security Studies Commons</u>, <u>International</u> and Area Studies Commons, and the Military History Commons

Recommended Citation

Liebig, Sarah E., "The German Army at a Crossroads of Modernization" (2015). *Master's Theses.* 193. https://repository.usfca.edu/thes/193

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses, Dissertations, Capstones and Projects at USF Scholarship: a digital repository @ Gleeson Library | Geschke Center. It has been accepted for inclusion in Master's Theses by an authorized administrator of USF Scholarship: a digital repository @ Gleeson Library | Geschke Center. For more information, please contact repository@usfca.edu.

THE GERMAN ARMY AT A CROSSROADS OF MODERNIZATION

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

MASTER OF ARTS

in

INTERNATIONAL STUDIES

by

SARAH LIEBIG

December 1, 2015

UNIVERSITY OF SAN FRANCISCO

Under the guidance and approval of the committee, and approval by all the members, this thesis project has been accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree.

APPROVED:	
Advisor	Date
Academic Director	Date
Dean of Arts and Sciences	——————————————————————————————————————

Contents

Abstract	ii
Chapter One: Introduction.	1
Thesis	3
Research Significance	4
Chapter Two: History of the <i>Bundeswehr</i>	6
Establishment of the <i>Bundeswehr</i>	6
The Bundeswehr in a Unified Germany	9
Innere Führung	10
Chapter Three: Modernization.	16
What is Modernization?	16
Why Modernization Matters	17
The White Paper 2006.	19
Public Reception	28
Chapter Four: The <i>Bundeswehr</i> Today	32
9/11 and the New War on Terror	32
Cyber Security and Cyber Warfare	35
Ursula von der Leyen	38
The Attractiveness Campaign	42
German-Russian Relations, the Ukraine and Syria	47
Chapter Five: Conclusion.	53
Bibliography	60
Tables	
Table 1	23
Table 2	26

Abstract

This thesis examines the German civil-military relationship and the challenges the country is facing amidst modernizing reforms to the German armed forces. Over the last quarter of a century, new international security threats have manifested and continue to transform requiring Germany to adapt its military and defense policies in order to effectively protect itself and serve as a capable ally to other member states of international organizations such as NATO and the EU. The adaptations and reforms required of Germany have led to concern that the cornerstone civil-military relationship concepts are at risk. In this thesis I identify the major changes to the armed forces and security policy, evaluate their threat to the civil-military relations in Germany and explore Germany's role in current global security challenges.

Chapter One Introduction

The modernization of the German *Bundeswehr* in recent years has been the subject of fierce debates both within Germany and in the international arena. The problems and challenges have arisen from international demands, as well as domestic reforms, which continue to place demands on the German army in a variety of areas, such as public support, questions about the role of the German army in international affairs and the future reform of a modernized German military establishment.

Germany is one of the richest countries in the world and is seen therefore as both a regional and global power. When thinking about the role that Germany currently plays in global politics it can be hard to remember that just seventy years ago, the end of World War II left the country in ruins and divided into two antagonistic states. As far as development is concerned, the economic and political growth Germany (namely West Germany) achieved in the decades immediately following the war is noteworthy. Within twenty years, West Germany re-established its democratic government and ensured economic stability. What sets Germany apart from the rest of the global powers is its defense policy, structure of the military and the unique constitutionally grounded relationship it has with the German people. In the last century, the world has gone through a number of geopolitical transformations, especially when it comes to geopolitics. We are now in an age of globalization and national borders are not as solid as before. The dissolution of national borders and the depth of transnational alliances have set the stage for a competitive and potentially unstable geopolitical future.

In Germany's case, a global economic and political power has not yet attained the role of a military power in the world order. After the Cold War a combination of the

German government's interest in taking on a more active role in global defense and a call from Germany's allies, such as the United States and other NATO member states, for Germany to take on a larger role in the realm of global defense has catalyzed a number of changes within Germany's defense policy and the structuring if its military, the *Bundeswehr*. The restructuring and transformation is aimed at modernizing the *Bundeswehr* in order to keep up with the rest of the global powers and to ensure that Germany can retain at least an economic hegemonic role.

When the Bundeswehr was established in 1955, the concept of Innere Führung was enacted as an attempt to connect the Bundeswehr with the German people and eradicate any gaps between the military and civil society. *Innere Führung* translates roughly to leadership and civic education and utilizes the idea of the citizen in uniform to form a relationship between the military and German society. The concept was largely successful due to the structuring of the Bundeswehr as conscription military, which allowed for Bundeswehr personnel to be citizens in uniform rather than a force of professional soldiers. In 2011, as a result of the transformation process the *Bundeswehr* was restructured to be volunteer-only with the intent of creating a professionalized military, which poses a potential risk to the established civil-military relationship. Since the end of World War II, the German people have maintained a pacifist perspective on international intervention by the *Bundeswehr*. They have generally approved of humanitarian and peacekeeping missions mandated by the United Nations, but combat missions such as occurred in Afghanistan, are deeply frowned upon. Germany is in a tricky spot between adhering to international pressures to transform and modernize their

military, and maintaining the close relationship between the *Bundeswehr* and the German people.

Military and defense reform are complicated, vast and take years to enact. Since 2003, global events have occurred that I hypothesize, may change German opinion of the *Bundeswehr* and their international involvement, setting the stage for more support. Today, the world is threatened by attacks from terrorist groups and now there is the devastating and overwhelming migrant crisis throughout the world, many of who are seeking refuge and asylum within Germany. The reforms set forth for the *Bundeswehr* and Germany's defense policy are more important now than ever.

Thesis

In the following chapters I attempt to answer a number of questions, including: What does it mean to modernize a military? How far is the German government willing to go? How far are the German people willing to be pushed? How do the current global crises affect the German public's opinions on the Bundeswehr's increased international involvement? To answer these questions, I will provide a history of the Bundeswehr since 1955, including an examination of the concepts of Innere Führung and Citizen in Uniform, and their crucial role in both the establishment of the Bundeswehr and in the relationship between the military and the German people. Military experts in the Adenauer government developed the concept of "inner guidance" in 1950. After the founding of the two German states, Adenauer decided that Germany needed to build an army, but was well aware of the pacifist tendencies among West Germans so soon after the disastrous years of World War II. After assuring the support of the American occupation authorities, the experts met at a monastery between Cologne and Bonn and

worked out the details of how to launch the army. The concept of "inner guidance" refers to the consciousness of the German solider as a citizen in uniform, in other words a democratic commitment to the new republic, rather than a closed cadre of soldiers, who in the past took an oath to the Kaiser, or most recently, to Hitler.

I will then move on to address what it means for Germany to modernize its military, summarize the reforms from the White Paper 2006 on German Security Policy and the future of the *Bundesweh*r, and examine public reception to those reforms. Lastly, I will discuss the current global events, and the role that Germany and the *Bundeswehr* play.

Germany's recent history has played a significant role in the *Bundeswehr's* relationship with greater civil society, and in my opinion the relationship played a crucial role in the rebuilding of the country, its reunification and its transnational relationships since World War II. That said, the policy decisions Germany makes and the sacrifices that it is willing to make, whether it is failing to meet some of the international demands, or increasing the gap between the *Bundeswehr* and the German people will have an impact on Germany's relationship internally and internationally and could have serious implications in the future for Germany's regional and global hegemony.

Research Significance

The broader impact and significance of my research has everything to do with a transitional geopolitical climate. The implications that can be drawn by the international community calling upon Germany to increase its defense spending and modernize its military in order to actively engage in international conflicts, include but are not limited to, the potential for a change in the world order and the role that Germany will take, or

not take as a global power. Considering Germany's modern history, the need for a connection between the *Bundeswehr* and the German people runs deep and is seen as a necessity. It can be argued that the close civil-military relationship, which differs from that which defines other powers, such as the United States, has helped to contribute to the rebuilding of German democracy and its stabilization not just as a country, but also as a regional and global player. Germany has the power to decide the role that it wants to take in the future, but it will be a balancing act between international demands and maintaining positive relations with its multigenerational pacifist public. The actions and sacrifices that Germany chooses to make in the coming years to modernize and transform the *Bundeswehr* will have an influence on domestic, European and world politics and relations.

Chapter Two History of the *Bundeswehr*

Establishment of the *Bundeswehr*

At the end of World War II, the allied forces consisting of the United States,
Great Britain, France and the Soviet Union, made the decision to completely demilitarize
Germany and divide it into two. West Germany would operate under the supervision of
the Western Alliance and East Germany under that of the Soviet Union. By default, East
and West Germany aligned with their supervising powers, creating an apparent cultural
and political division between the countries.

With the Cold War brewing, the two Germanys served as a strategic buffer zone between east and west. The Western Alliance saw the opportunity to rearm West Germany in order to create back-up defense forces against the Soviet Union. The idea of rearmament was not popular in West Germany, but Chancellor Konrad Adenauer recognized the rebuilding of the German army as a point of negotiation for the country with the Western Alliance. Adenauer engaged in negotiations with the supervisory powers in order to achieve sovereignty in exchange for the development of German armed forces. In addition to creating a more robust defense force for the Western Alliance, a major goal was to create a common European Defense force, although the French National Assembly vetoed this idea.

On February 26, 1954 the West German *Bundestag* contemplated the concept of reinstating the armed forces. To do so, the German Basic Law would have to be amended, the act for amendment passed 334 to 144.³ As a result, three amendments, quite controversial at the time were made to the Basic Law:

The scope of exclusive legislative jurisdiction of the Federation were extended to include defence including compulsory military service of men who have completed their 18th year of age and protection of the civilian population (Article 73);

The constitutional amendment procedure was facilitated in particular with respect to international treaties serving the defence of the Federal Republic (Art. 79 para. 1 sentence 2)

Treaties on the EDC were declared compatible with the Basic Law (Art. 142a) (Uhde 2013).

President Theodor Heuss signed the law in to effect on March 26, 1954. Just a few months later at the Nine Power Conference in London from September 28 – October 3, 1954 Germany was invited to "accede to the Brussels Pact and to NATO".

The Federal Republic of Germany (West Germany) joined NATO and the Western European Union in May 1955. Six months after joining NATO and the WEU, on November 12, 1955 the new German armed forces came into being (they would not officially be called the *Bundeswehr* until the passing of the Legal Status of Military Personnel Act of April 1956) and on November 21, 1955 the first 101 volunteers were appointed. The proposed "plan was to place under NATO command 12 Army divisions within three years and, one year later, 22 air wings as well as naval forces equipped with 172 ships and boats". The total allotment of troops was set at 500,000, with an additional 105,000 troops for national territorial purposes.

Although the re-establishment of the German armed forces was at the request of its allies, the Federal Republic made sure to create the *Bundeswehr* founded on principles that reflected the country and ensured integration into greater German society. In order to do this, a distance had to be created between the new military and those of the past, namely the Wehrmacht of the NAZI era. The core concept on which the *Bundeswehr* was built is *Innere Führung*, which establishes the role and obligations of the soldier while

providing for their rights as citizens (directly tied to the concept of the citizen in uniform). Crucial to *Innere Führung's* role in the *Bundeswehr* is that, "conscience was to take precedence over obedience where orders contravene the law and diminish human dignity". This both allowed and encouraged German soldiers to operate on a basis of morality and ethics. The concept of *Innere Führung* and the citizen in uniform created a checks-and-balances system for the armed forces and served as a mechanism to prevent the military from operating independently from the rest of the country by ensuring its integration into German society.

Major concerns surrounding rearmament centered on the involvement of former Wehrmacht personnel in the establishment of the new military forces. Many Germans wanted a clean separation from the World War II era and that included the employment of individuals who had served under the regime. In an attempt to curb these concerns, Adenauer called for the creation of a selection board for anyone applying to be a colonel or higher, as a way to screen personnel on and individual basis on their involvement in the atrocities during the NAZI period. Although some remained unsettled, the former officers and higher ranked personnel from the Wehrmacht were necessary for structure and training of the newly established forces.

With the Second Federal Border Guard Act of May 1956, the Federal Minister of Defense was given the authority to convert border guard units into the *Bundeswehr*. Roughly 58% (9,500) of the border guards opted to become soldiers in July 1956. Despite conscription and the conversion of the border guards, *Bundeswehr* growth was slow. It did not reach 400,000 troops until 1963 and the last of the twelve proposed army

divisions was not placed under NATO control until 1965; the process took significantly longer than the projected three years.¹⁰

The *Bundeswehr* served as a defensive ally for fellow NATO members, serving under the organization's strategy of "massive retaliation". Despite Germany's renouncement of "nuclear, biological and chemical weapons, the *Bundeswehr* was equipped with carrier systems for nuclear warheads at the insistence of its NATO allies". Eventually NATO shifted their strategy to one of "Dêtente" or flexible response. Throughout NATO defense strategy developments such as the hair directive of 1971 and the NATO double-track decision of 1979, the German forces remained reliable allies, despite unease and uncertainty amongst the troops. ¹² At the end of the day, integration of the conscript defense forces into German society was considered successful.

The Bundeswehr in a Unified Germany

By 1989 and the fall of the Eastern Bloc, the *Bundeswehr* finally reached 500,000 personnel. On October 3, 1990 the Germanys reunited after a period of forty-five years of division. Upon reunification, 90,000 military and 47,000 civilian personnel from the East German National Volksarmee (NVA) joined the 500,000 military and 170,000 civilian *Bundeswehr* personnel. Officially, the NVA disbanded just one day earlier on October 2, 2015, but the *Bundeswehr* absorbed the people, weapons and supplies. Post-reunification, global security threats shifted and the combination of reunification and the increase in military personnel put Germany in a place which no longer allowed them to evade international military involvement. It became necessary for the *Bundeswehr* to undergo reforms, the most principal change being shifting from a defense army to, "a

mobile and flexible military force for operations, while retaining its capacity for national defense". 15

The *Bundeswehr* continued to go through processes of transformation and restructuring, often with specific end goals in mind. In the early 1990s, troops were divided into Crisis Response Forces (CRF) and Main Defense Forces (MDF), but with lack of funding, *Bundeswehr* personnel decreased from 370,000 to 340,000. While this period of transformation was necessary, the ever-changing global security threats and the *Bundeswehr's* involvement in the Balkans demonstrated to both Germany and its allies that further reorganization and reforms were necessary.

Germany's new role in global defense resulted in involvement in international conflicts in Somalia, Cambodia and Afghanistan, but the German public remained reluctant to support these operations. In 1994, a pivotal legal decision by the German Constitutional Court quieted complaints by two of the country's parliamentary groups, that the *Bundeswehr's* involvement in these international conflicts was unconstitutional. The court cited Article 24 of the German Basic Law stating that the *Bundeswehr*, "may enter into a system of mutual collective security with a view to maintaining peace" and ultimately ruling that, "it is permissible for *Bundeswehr* military personnel to take part without limitation in international peace missions beyond NATO territory provided that such missions are given a UN mandate". ¹⁷ In order for the *Bundeswehr* to take part combat operations, each case must be reviewed and approved by the *Bundestag*, the German parliament (this is where the term parliamentary army comes into play).

Innere Führung

The driving forces for decisions made by states is a combination of maintaining international relationships aimed at acquiring power, security and wealth and their doctrine. According to NATO, doctrine is the "fundamental principles by which military forces guide their actions in support of objectives". While NATO's definition is directed at a state's military, it can be applied to the decisions of the state on a larger scale. It is essentially the values by which the state operates in order to achieve a particular goal. Doctrine connects theory and implementation, and works hand-in-hand with the state's ideology.

The relationship between doctrine and ideology is tied together by the culture of the nation and the region. While culture is a subjective term and the task of constructing a definition has historically been no small feat,²⁰ in the context of this thesis, the culture, and consequently ideology and doctrine held in Germany, in regards to international involvement and policy-making, have been dictated by the nation's history, past decisions and relations. The constructs and policy developments are a reflection of the culture, ideology and doctrine that emerged in response to the events, which transpired during the Weimar Republic and more devastatingly, the Third Reich.

Most theory on civil-military relations focuses on the relationship between the military and the government, and strives to answer, "how civil-military relations sustain and protect democratic values". ²¹ Due to the *Bundeswehr's* status as a parliamentary military, aspects of the mainstream civil-military relations theories can be applied to the German armed forces, but in Germany these relations are not just between the military and the government, but with German society as a whole.

Samuel P. Huntington claims that civil-military relations are, "the principle institutional component of military security policy". ²² These relations provide a necessary "balance between social values and military function to effectively respond to societal imperatives (social forces and ideologies) on one hand and functional imperatives (security threats) on the other. ²³ For the German *Bundeswehr*, this balance is carried out through *Innere Führung*, which rests at the core of the *Bundeswehr* and dictates the civil-military relationship embedded into German society. ²⁴ There is no English translation of *Innere Führung* that truly encapsulates the essence of the phrase, although the widely accepted translation is to leadership and civic education. Per the Federal Defense Ministry, it is best explained as the military being tightly bound with society and its values. The idea is that by minimizing the gap between greater society and military institutions, a mutual understanding, greater adaptability and overall effective security measures will be successfully realized. ²⁵

Innere Führung allows for a distinct differentiation between old and new, and serves as a mechanism that is intended to prevent the military from operating independently from the state and greater German society. The differentiation clearly has to do with the word "Führer," which carries such heavy baggage from the Nazi period. Inner guidance has to do with individual conscience, as opposed to outward blind obedience to a leader. The term amounts to a moral force, not of professional soldiers, but of citizens in uniform who are entitled to the same rights and moral obligations as non-military personnel. One of the main goals of Innere Führung is to integrate the military into society and create a harmonious relationship between the two. As a method of integration, leadership under Innere Führung "means that in mission accomplishment, the

way commanders lead must take account of the prevalent social and political conditions experienced by military personnel". Additionally, the concept of a citizen in uniform together with continuous civic education and training cultivates a force that requires soldiers to constantly re-evaluate their role as an individual in both the military and German society. This acknowledgement of one's role and place results in, "the necessary assuredness and the ability to make sound judgments" in both combat and non-combat situations. The *Bundeswehr's* philosophy of *Innere Führung* enables the preservation of the citizen in uniform by granting the rights to, "active and passive franchise, the rights to information, and free expression of opinion, and the rights of free association and petition". Additionally, the concept of a citizen in uniform

Huntington argued that to "create a democratic army, an ideologically motivated force embodying subjective rather than objective civilian control" would "reduce the fighting effectiveness of the new army". ²⁹ While Huntington's argument sounds logical, the *Bundeswehr* and *Innere Führung* reflect more closely Morris Janowitz's theory on constabulatory forces. For Janowitz, the military that serves more as a national police force and is integrated in society proved to be more effective both in operations and with civilian control. ³⁰ *Innere Führung's* integration of the military into civil society adheres to Janowitz's assumptions and the idea that, "only those solders who respect the same set of values as their society are capable of defending that very society". ³¹

At the time of the establishment of the *Bundeswehr*, *Innere Führung* was carried out through the practice of conscription. All males over the age of 18 were required to complete a term of military service. One main reason the conscription method worked for the *Bundeswehr* in the mid-twentieth century was that it was established as a defense only

force, as is written in the Basic Law, Article 87a. The extent of the *Bundeswehr's* jurisdiction was aiding police forces in times of defense or tension, but only under the direction and discretion of the *Bundestag* or *Bundesrat*. The period of divided Germanys beginning in 1945 was a period of redevelopment and rebuilding. In order to establish the country as strong, trustworthy and eventually once again sovereign, economic, political and eventually defensive stability needed to be achieved. After ten years picking up the pieces of the horrific war, both domestically and internationally and relying on foreign militaries and governments to protect the country and its people, it was time for Germany to take a stand and declare who it wanted to be and where it wanted to sit in the world order. The use of *Innere Führung* as the foundational concept upon which the *Bundeswehr* was to be established, demonstrated to the German people, as well as the rest of the world, the role the country would take on internationally.

A number of scholars argue that the civil-military relationship in Germany is at risk and that this increasing gap is a consequence of the engagement in international combat missions such as in Kosovo in the 1990s and more recently, in Afghanistan. ³² Another factor, which can be perceived as having a negative effect on the civil-military relationship, is the shift, beginning in 2011, from conscription military to volunteer-only forces. ³³ This shift raises the foundational question of whether this is an attempt to maintain a positive relationship during a period of reform and perhaps an increase in international combat missions, allowing for the justification that members of the armed forces chose to enlist. Citing Thomas E. Ricks, Tomas Kucera discusses "a civil-military cultural gap" in the United States after the abolishment of the draft due to a decrease in interaction between civilians and military personnel. ³⁴ This tie leaves us to question if the

same could happen in Germany. Kucera argues, "soldiers should accept civilian values and integrate with society, otherwise they are alienated from the society and from the interest which they should defend.³⁵

Chapter Three Modernization

What is Modernization?

Governments, militaries and policies are in a constant state of transformation. As things work, or do not work, institutions and law makers attempt to make adjustments or improvements. Although transformation can be categorized as progress, it can often happen too little too late. The German *Bundeswehr* has been continuously transforming since its inception, but now it is enacting great reforms to ideally close the policy and capability gap between itself and the militaries of its allies.

The term modernizing is a bit troubling since it is not entirely clear what is meant in the scope of a military. An evaluation of the *Bundeswehr* would leave many with the assurance that it is in fact "modernized", and while in terms of technology and what its structure looks like, it is a modernized military force. That being said, the *Bundeswehr* is an institution founded primarily for defense, not for international offensive combat missions, and definitely not for the type of ever changing warfare that many of Germany's allies have encountered in the last half-century.

For the purposes of this paper modernizing the *Bundeswehr* refers to the restructuring of the institution itself and the policy changes that transition the *Bundeswehr* from being a purely peace-building institution to an armed force that is fully equipped and willing to take part in international missions as needed by its allies, whether it be NATO, the European Defense Council or individual countries such as the United States. The new policies essentially expand the *Bundeswehr's* mandate and aide in the preparation of the troops to take part in such potential missions. Aspects of the *Bundeswehr* are being held on to, such as *Innere Führung* but now what it means to be a

German soldier and to be a part of the *Bundeswehr* has a different meaning and a different expectation. Modernizing the *Bundeswehr* means making it look and act (within reason) as their allies do, it is a way to elevate it in the world order in means of defense and increase its credibility as a physical ally willing send competent troops.

Why is Modernization Matters

Much like with people, relationships between nations are nothing short of crucial. When these relationships are positive, the parties involved are referred to as allies. The assumption is that alliances are formed based on a commonality of a goal, interest, ideal or enemy. With that said, there is a mutual understanding that, "I'll scratch your back if you scratch mine". As an old adage in foreign policy goes, "nations do not have permanent friends, only permanent interests".

During Germany's period of division East and West German alliances developed almost naturally by default. East Germany aligned with the Soviet Bloc and eventually became a part of the Warsaw Pact. West Germany then aligned with the Western alliances of the United States, Great Britain and France; eventually finding its place as a member of NATO.

At the end of the Cold War and after the fall of the Soviet Union, East and West Germany were reunited, a new government was established, but the East German Volksarmee was absorbed into the West German *Bundeswehr*. After reunification Germany retained its alliances and position in NATO.

Throughout the Cold War, West Germany provided political and financial support to its allies, namely the United States. This policy and approach worked during a period where no boots were on the ground, but as new conflicts arose, political backing and

economic support proved to not be enough for Germany's allies. Post-reunification, tragic and violent armed conflicts arose throughout the world in Rwanda, the Balkans, Israel and Palestine, and in the Middle East during the Gulf Wars. Germany's defense policy maintained that the *Bundeswehr* would only get involved in NATO and UN mandated missions as a humanitarian force. That policy sent troops to Kosovo in the mid-1990s during the Serb-Kosovar conflict. While carrying out their peace-building mission, the deployed troops engaged in armed combat for the first time since the *Bundeswehr's* establishment in 1955. What Germany gained from that mission was the knowledge that the *Bundeswehr* was not as equipped for armed combat as it should be.

As previously discussed above, Germany traditionally only provided economic and political backing to its allies during times of conflict. As the global political climate shifted, so did the opinion of Germany's allies. Providing funding demonstrated limited support, while its allies were risking lives, Germany was hiding behind its pocketbook.

Germany had seats on the European Defense Council, as well as NATO, but had the inability to demonstrate efficiency and aptitude in armed conflict. As conflicts continued to unfold and escalate, Germany's allies decided to call on Germany to modernize its forces to a level that would prove the country to be a viable ally if need be.

By the time of reunification, Germany had once again established itself amongst the world powers. The array of armed conflicts that occurred post-reunification sparked a desire by Germany to become more involved in global defense and policy. The mechanism through which the country could maintain their foothold would be by modernizing the *Bundeswehr*. The changes to come would not only prepare Germany for

involvement in future combat missions, but also demonstrate to its allies and the world that it was ready and fully capable to do so.

The White Paper 2006

The German Federal Ministry of Defense's White Paper 2006 publication outlines the country's security and defense policies for the future. Prior to this publication, the last White Paper was released twelve years earlier. According to a press release by the German Missions in Australia, the drafting of the newest White Paper has just finished and is on track to be released mid-2016. While the 2006 White Paper does not account for many current instances or situations, which have occurred in the almost ten years since it's publication, the information included outlines many aspects of the recent modernization process of the *Bundeswehr* and is therefore a significant document in the context of this thesis.

The White Paper 2006 is divided into two parts, the first focusing on German security policy and the country's memberships in various international organizations such as the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO), the European Union (EU), United Nations (UN) and the Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe (OSCE). The second part focuses on the *Bundeswehr*, changes within the armed forces, and its role in German security policy. At the point of the White Paper's publication, global security issues had been transforming to where international terrorism and weapons of mass destruction (WMD) served as the front-runners in terms of security risks for Germany and the international community as a whole. The overarching goal of the German security policy was to develop a multi-lateral, inter-ministerial networked security system aimed at taking preventative measures to address potential threats domestically and

internationally. The importance of international partnerships and alliances is a core concept throughout the publication, the German government acknowledges that Germany's security and development is linked to that of Europe and the entire world. The country's intentions to remain a capable ally to other members of its various international organizations are outlined and emphasized, as is its collaborative movement toward peace.³⁶

NATO, the EU and the UN have all transformed to adapt to new challenges and risks and their member nations are expected to follow suit, Germany's adaptation reforms included the transitioning of the *Bundeswehr* into a expeditionary organization.³⁷ The country's security policy, as outlined in the 2006 White Paper, heavily emphasizes networked security systems and claims it is the most effective and encompassing strategy to modern security threats.

According to the publication, Germany's international partnerships, specifically the country's membership to NATO, are fundamental to German security policy and therefore it is imperative that the transatlantic relationship with the United States be continuously deepened and fostered.³⁸ In addition to the active role that Germany plays in NATO, it is also a prominent member of the European Union and aims to pursue the strengthening of European stability, as well as a stronger partnership with Russia. Aside from the country's role in the two separate organizations, the White Paper stresses that NATO and the EU are complementary to one another and that it will remain Germany's policy to cultivate a deeper relationship between the two in order to, "lead to closer cooperation and greater efficiency, avoid duplication and fortify European and transatlantic security".³⁹ In summation, the White Paper identifies the necessity of

focusing on conflict prevention at root causes, exacerbating networked security both inter-ministerial within Germany and through regional and global partnerships and alliances.

The second portion of the 2006 White Paper is dedicated specifically to the *Bundeswehr*. In this document, the German government outlined five major aims of the *Bundeswehr*:

- 1. To guarantee the capacity for action in the field of foreign policy
- 2. To contribute towards European and global security
- 3. To maintain national security and defense
- 4. To provide assistance in the defense of our allies
- 5. To foster multinational cooperation and integration (White Paper 2006, p 9).

The *Bundeswehr's* central task is defined as being national and collective defense and its mission is influenced by the values, goals and interests put forth in the German Basic Law. As a consequence of the radically changed security risks, internal and external security has become severely intertwined therefore supporting Germany's policy for networked and collective defense. The publication dictates the primary tasks of the *Bundeswehr* as international conflict prevention, supporting Germany's allies, protecting Germany and its people, rescue and evacuation in the event of disaster, partnership and cooperation, and subsidiary assistance. Internal terrorist threats would traditionally be handled by the land authorities, but the outlined security policy of this publication permits the deployment of *Bundeswehr* personnel should the situation necessitate and asserts that the federal government wishes to expand the constitutional framework for the use of the armed forces. In the substitutional framework for the use of the armed forces.

The mission and tasks central to the German armed forces are imbedded into the German Basic Law. In 1994, the constitutional court ruled it legal for the *Bundeswehr* to

be deployed out of area for the purposes of collective security (Article 24 (2) of the Basic Law). ⁴² This ruling provides the *Bundeswehr* with the legal backing to participate in international security and prevention operations in concert with its allies and defense partners. In order for troops to be deployed to out of area operations, permission must be granted to the *Bundeswehr* by the *Bundestag* on a case-by-case basis. The specifics and parameters of the relationship between the armed forces and parliament are clarified in The Parliamentary Participation Act. The scope of *Bundeswehr* employment is explicitly outlined in Article 24 (2), Article 87a (2), (3), (4) and Article 35 (2), (3) of the German Basic Law. The *Bundeswehr* has been reorganized to encompass three groups of forces: response, stabilization and support. As of the White Paper 2006, the goal for 2010 is to have a total of active personnel will be 252,500 with 2,500 reservists and 75,000 civilians. ⁴³

Essential to the armed forces is the concept of *Innere Führung*, and its relationship with conscription. According to the White Paper, "*Innere Führung* stands for the realisation that the capability to act on security matters requires a successful interchange between politics, society and the military". ⁴⁴ This philosophy gives military personnel an identity and a recognizable place within German society. *Innere Führung* together with universal conscription ensure that the *Bundeswehr* is anchored in society.

Article 24

(2) With a view to maintaining peace, the Federation may enter into a system of mutual collective security; in doing so it shall consent to such limitations upon its sovereign powers as will bring about and secure a lasting peace in Europe and among the nations of the world.

Article87a

- (2) Apart from defence the Armed Forces may be employed only to the extent expressly permitted by this Basic Law
- (3) During a state of defence or state of tension the Armed Forces shall have the power to protect civilian property and to perform traffic control functions to the extent necessary to accomplish their defence mission. Moreover, during a state of defence or a state of tension, the Armed forces may also be authorized to support police measures for the protection of civilian property: in this event the Armed Forces shall cooperate with the competent authorities.
- (4) In order to avert an imminent danger to the existence or free democratic basic order of the Federation or of a Land, the Federal Government, if the conditions referred to in paragraph (2) of Article 91 obtain and the police forces and the Federal Police Force prove inadequate, may employ the Armed Forces to support the police and the Federal Border Police in protecting civilian property and in combating organized armed insurgents. Any such employments of the Armed Forces shall be discontinued if the Bundestag or the Bundesrat so demands.

Article 35

- (2)(...) in order to respond to a grave accident or a natural disaster, a Land may call for the assistance of police forces of other Laender of personnel and facilities of other administrative authorities of the Armed Forces, or of the Federal Border Police.
- (3) If the natural disaster or accident endangers the territory of more than one Land, the Federal Government, insofar as is necessary to combat the danger, may instruct the Land governments to place police forces at the disposal of other Laender, and may deploy units of the Federal Border Police or the Armed Forces to support the police. Measures taken by the Federal Government pursuant to the first sentence of this paragraph shall be rescinded at any time at the demands of the Bundesrat, and in any event as soon as the danger is removed.

Table 1: Bundeswehr Employment per the German Basic Law (German Basic Law Art. 24(2), Art. 87a(2,3,4), Art. 35(2,3))

The importance of conscription to the *Bundeswehr* is heavily emphasized in the White Paper, as is the Federal Government's intention to preserve the practice (although it is important to note that conscription ended in 2011). The conscription process was an integral part of the civil-military relationship in Germany. It not only guaranteed the personnel necessary for potential operations, but also allowed for a well-rounded armed force as a result of the various backgrounds and wide range of education the conscripts embodied. In the 2005 Coalition Agreement, the intent of the Federal Government to continue the conscription was outlined and at the time of this publication, the Federal Minister of Defense called for an increase of conscripts by more than 6,500 in one year.⁴⁵

According to section 3.6 of the White Paper, many of the reforms set forth have a financial basis. Since reunification, defense spending continued to be cut and the restructuring of the *Bundeswehr* is aimed at creating the most cost effective and efficient force as possible. Joint operations with Germany's European and transatlantic alliances will help to ease the financial burden of the *Bundeswehr* and contracting with the private sector will ease the strain on *Bundeswehr* personnel.⁴⁶

The *Bundeswehr* recognizes that, "only Nations with a strong defense industry have the appropriate clout in Alliance decisions" and therefore intends to expand the industry within Germany.⁴⁷ The idea is that by minimizing the outsourcing of defense technology, Germany will be able to build up the domestic industry and consequently gain decision-making leverage within NATO. Reiterating one of the main thematic threads of the White Paper 2006, section 3.7 on Armaments emphasizes collaboration and the deepening of partnerships between nations and alliance organizations. In this section, it is made clear that the Germany and its armed forces are willing to develop partnerships

with nations both in and out of NATO, as long as they hold common goals and defense policies.⁴⁸

The last section in Chapter Three of the White Paper 2006 focuses on the restructuring of the Bundeswehr. According to this section NATO and the EU determined deficiencies in the defense strategies of member nations and urged those states to take the necessary steps to eradicate those deficiencies. ⁴⁹ For the *Bundeswehr* this meant developing restructuring and procurement strategies, which would lead the German armed forces to both meet international alliance and defense demands, as well as falling within budgetary constraints. After the enactment of the restructuring set forth in this document, the majority of the Bundeswehr will consist of stabilization forces with a goal of having the capability of deploying up to 14,000 troops in up to five operations at one time. 50 To meet the operational requirements of Germany's partner organizations, the Bundeswehr is proposed to provide up to 15,000 troops to the NATO response force, up to 18,000 to the European Union Headline Goal and up to 1,000 troops to the United Nations Stand by Arrangement System.⁵¹ The cumulative goal for the year 2010, as outlined by the White Paper is 327,500 Bundeswehr personnel consisting of 252,500 military personnel and 75,000 civilian posts.⁵² Of military personnel, troops will be divided into three categories of force: 35,000 response forces, 70,0000 stabilizations forces and 147,000 support forces.⁵³

Chapter Four of the White Paper 2006 details the current operations in which the *Bundeswehr* is involved, as well as their justifications. As of 2006, the *Bundeswehr* was involved in ten operations in Europe, the Middle East and Africa operating under NATO

missions, EU missions, UN missions, African Union (AU) missions, or against international terrorism.⁵⁴

NATO	EU	UN	AU	International Terrorism
KFOR- Kosovo Force (Kosovo)	EUFOR- EU Force (Bosnia and Herzegovina)	UNMIS- UN Mission in Sudan	AMIS- African Union Mission in Sudan	Active Endeavour- Mediterranean region under North Atlantic Treaty Article 5
ISAF— International Security Assistance Force (Afghanistan)	EUFOR RD Congo – EU Force (Democratic Republic of the Congo)	UNMEE – UN Mission in Ethiopia and Eritrea UNOMIG- UN Observer Mission in Georgia UNAMA- UN Assistance Mission in Afghanistan UNIFIL- UN Interim Force in Lebanon		Article 5 Enduring Freedombased in Djibouti, Horn of Africa

Table 2: Bundeswehr Operations Abroad (White Paper 2006 p. 73)

The detailed transformation process of the German armed forces is described in Chapter Five of the White Paper 2006. The goal of the transformations was to create an armed force, which is capable of achieving constant adaptability to changing security situations and operational needs. All areas of the *Bundeswehr* were subjected to transformation reforms including the improvement of concept development and experimentation, network-enabled operations, force categories and the expansion of military capabilities. The capabilities of the *Bundeswehr* are set to include command and control, intelligence collection and reconnaissance, mobility, effective engagement, support and sustainability and survivability and protection. In order to reach the proposed capabilities, the *Bundeswehr* would need to tighten communications and

networking to maximize joint operability; optimize the collection and analysis of situational information through the *Bundeswehr's* Military Intelligence Organization; achieve sufficient mobility capabilities; display force, spatial, temporal and informational adequacies; provide support to personnel taking part in domestic and international operations; and ensuring the protection and safe transport of personnel and materials.⁵⁷ The transformation of the *Bundeswehr* outlined in the White Paper is laid out to adhere to policies set forth by NATO and the EU.⁵⁸

The organization of the Federal Ministry of Defense and the *Bundeswehr* is intended to streamline duties and administrative tasks. In the context of the Army, Air Force and Naval forces, the aim of the command organization is to increase force capability and operation flexibility while achieving maximum effectiveness. ⁵⁹ The Joint Support Services are configured to minimize strain on the various branches of the armed forces by providing services such as logistical support, military intelligence, military police and joint training through a centralized source; the Armed Forces Office. ⁶⁰ Similar to the Joint Support Services, the German Joint Medical Service, provide an array of health services to all areas of the armed forces, with the exception of a handful of specialized forces and institutes within the armed forces. ⁶¹ Other offices under the Federal Ministry of Defense consist of the Federal Defense Administration, which is required by German Basic Law Article 87b to operate independent of the armed forces; the military legal system containing a civilian structure; and the availability of chaplain services for personnel. ⁶²

While the organizational and capabilities structure of the German armed forces and its related offices is crucial, as is the recruitment, retention and composition of its

personnel. Civilian personnel cuts as a result of budget cuts account for 80% of personnel reductions in the *Bundeswehr* since 1991 and at the time of the publication of this document, there remained 177,000 civilian employees with further reductions projected to leave 75,000 civilians by 2010.⁶³ Outlined in Chapter Seven are ways in which the Bundeswehr attempts to increase recruitment, namely of temporary volunteers and noncommissioned offices (NCOs) who offer a wide spectrum of experiences and education; by balancing the income discrepancy between East and West German personnel; offering a supplemental stipend for foreign deployment; the offering of comprehensive benefits for personnel who took part in foreign operations; and the family and work harmony provided by employment in the Bundeswehr. 64 As of 2006, the Bundeswehr consisted of regular and temporary volunteers of various vocations and ages, which were closely monitored and kept in harmony; Basic and Extended Service Conscripts, which aid in easing the training obligations of the *Bundeswehr* through the wide-range of educational achievements of conscripted personnel; reservists, numbering up to 100,000; and civilian personnel.65

It has been almost ten years since the publication of this White Paper and the 2016 White Paper will not made accessible until mid-2016 with a more updated Germany Security Policy and Military organization. Despite the lack of publicly accessible government documents deliberately outlining the contemporary security policy within Germany, overt changes, such as the end of conscription prove that the policies in Germany have continued to adapt as security threats and challenges transfigure.

Public Reception

The reforms published in the White Paper 2006 were aimed as ensuring the operational capabilities of the *Bundeswehr* in potential situations for the future. The reforms, which began in 2003, were implemented shortly after the start of Germany's involvement in NATO operations in Afghanistan. Since the end of World War II, Germans have maintained a pacifist attitude when it comes to involvement in international conflict. According to the 2007 Global Peace Index (GPI), Germany ranked as the twelfth most peaceful nation out of the 121 analyzed. Between 2005 and 2007, *Bundeswehr* reforms were being carried out and the nation's involvement in the NATO ISAF mission continued to grow. The reforms, while maintaining *Innere Führung* and trying to preserve the citizen in uniform led to a shift in the capabilities of the *Bundeswehr*, which to caused it to cross over into uncharted territory operationally, but also in terms of social perception and acceptance. The response of the German public to the reforms is tied together with the views on Germany's international involvement at the time.

According to a poll conducted in 2005, 80% of Germans polled held a positive view of the *Bundeswehr*, 60% believed that the German armed forces had a positive impact internationally, and only 34% opposed NATO's ISAF in Afghanistan.⁶⁸ In the same survey, 53% of those questioned, supported keeping conscripted service for the *Bundeswehr*, which according to the White Paper 2006 was cornerstone to the goal of *Innere Führung*.⁶⁹ Despite the high support for the continuation of conscription, just one year earlier, of the 150,000 Germans up for conscripted service, 80,000 objected to military service.⁷⁰ While these numbers demonstrate overall support for the *Bundeswehr*, its involvement in international missions was not met with as much positive backing.

Only 29% of Germans fully supported the *Bundeswehr*, with 79% claiming they were happy with the work being done by the armed forces.⁷¹ The majority polled believed that the *Bundeswehr* should protect Germany against external threats, but believed that Germany should focus its attention on domestic issues; a reported 35% supported executing an active foreign policy.⁷²

The reluctance of the German people to become involved with international conflicts could have been due to a number of reasons, ranging from a true culture of pacifism to a lack of security concerns. 73 In 2006, Minister of Defense, Franz-Josef Jung expressed concern that the German public may not fully understand the current and potential security threats to the nation.⁷⁴ The changes in global security challenges left nations, such as Germany to navigate the unknown and develop policy in preparation of situations, which had not previously been encountered. The support demonstrated by the German people toward the *Bundeswehr*, reflects the good deeds and intentions of the armed forces, such as delivering humanitarian aid and assisting in case of natural disasters. The Bundeswehr was created in a way that emulated the German culture and perspective; the reforms published in the White Paper did not overtly impose on that essence, leading to the continuation of support of the *Bundeswehr* as an institution. As the German government attempted to prepare to take on future challenges and assert itself as a capable ally, the German people also were thrown into an unfamiliar situation. Reluctance of international involvement had been the trend since the end of World War II, supporting combat operations abroad and inserting themselves into conflicts which were not their own, would have be an remarkable shift in German societal norms.

In 2010, the *Bundeswehr* underwent another set of reforms to help reduce the cost of the operation of the armed forces. The major components were: eliminating conscripted service, reducing military and civilian personnel, closing thirty-one and downsizing ninety *Bundeswehr* bases, reducing personnel within the Defense Ministry, and cutting defense projects by billions. As of 2014, the *Bundeswehr* had 5,000 soldiers deployed in international operations, yet the German public's attitude toward international involvement remained similar to that between 2005 and 2007. In a survey conducted by the Federal Foreign Office, two-thirds of those polled were against more international involvement. In another poll, only 20% of Germans believed Germany should take on more responsibility within NATO and 58% expressed their belief that conflicts should be solved through diplomacy and money rather than military force. Almost a decade after the initial surveys, the German public's resistance to engage in international conflicts lingers.

The reforms set forth by Karl-Josef Jung and Thomas de Maiziére have targeted the increase of capabilities and economic efficiency of the armed forces and the Ministry of Defense. The former Ministers of Defense attempted to make changes while trying to preserve the constitutional relationship between the German people and the *Bundeswehr*, but as new challenges emerge and the *Bundeswehr* adapts to tackling them, the civil-military relationship is also transitioning and adapting to the new roles being taken on by Germany and its armed forces.

Chapter Four The *Bundeswehr* Today

9/11 and the New War on Terror

The terrorist attacks on the United States on September 11, 2001 marked a shift in global security and the types of threats to nation states. In response to the devastating attacks, the United States and its allies took up arms against terrorism to reinstate world security. Fourteen years after the attacks, troops from around the world remain deployed and engaged in conflict and rebuilding missions in Afghanistan and Iraq, and have support missions and intelligence units across the globe. The War on Terror has expanded to encapsulate terrorism in all its guises throughout the world. As a member of NATO, Germany has been involved in anti-terror strategies from the beginning, the country's military involvement has been a careful balance between supporting and defending its NATO allies and aligning with the views of domestic public opinion. The fight against terrorism is comprehensive and does not solely rely on military force. Countries around the world partake in domestic and international operations in order to combat and prevent terrorist threats.

After the attacks on 9/11, the United States called upon the North Atlantic Treaty Article 5, which requires all NATO states to come to the aid of any member who invokes the article. An attack on one, in other words, is an attack on all. In December 2001, German parliament approved *Bundeswehr* contribution to NATO's International Security Assistance Force (ISAF) in Afghanistan.⁷⁹ The German chancellor at the time, Gerhard Schröder, originally gained German public support for his stance against the invasion of Afghanistan but was forced to undergo a vote of confidence for then supporting the German contribution to the mission.⁸⁰ Two years later in 2003 the United States rallied

for support for the war in Iraq, which is also known as "Operation Iraqi Freedom". After the country's involvement in Afghanistan, Germany chose to withhold support to the United States for a war in Iraq.⁸¹ The sentiment expressed in Germany and the rest of Europe was that the United States was ignoring the concerns of its allies, while making unilateral decisions.⁸² Despite the variances in strategic opinions, Germany intends to provide ceaseless support to NATO and its other allies in the international fight against terrorism.⁸³

After initial deployment for Operation Enduring Freedom in 2001 to dislodge the Taliban, the *Bundeswehr* took over the Provincial Reconstruction Team (PRT) in the Kunduz province in Afghanistan, as well as the ISAF Regional Command (RC) North in Mazar-i-Sharif in the northern part of the country in 2003. ⁸⁴ The role of the German armed forces during this time was to support reconstruction in the region, under a very ambiguous mandate; this resulted in the *Bundeswehr* providing neither direct security nor reconstruction. ⁸⁵ As of 2014, there remained 1,800 *Bundeswehr* soldiers deployed in Afghanistan under ISAF. ⁸⁶

In addition to the troop contribution in Afghanistan, NATO nations also partook in establishing a number of groups and offices to aid in the war against terrorism. In 2004, NATO established the Defense Against Terrorism Programme of Work (DAT-POW) to carry out a wide range of projects to combat terrorist activities. Projects are aimed at ensuring the capability to protect against chemical, biological, nuclear and radiological attacks; maintaining up-to-date and secure technology; and the maintenance of infrastructure. The Centre of Excellence-Defense Against Terrorism (COE-DAT) analytical and advisory board was created in 2005, to which Germany continues to

contribute both financial and personnel support. ⁸⁹ Additionally, there is also a NATO Terrorism Threat Intelligence Unit, as well as a NATO Cooperative Cyber Defense Center of Excellence. The global strategy against fighting terrorism has been through comprehensive networked defense, between individual nations, alliances, as well as international organizations such as NATO, the UN, the EU and OSCE.

Within Germany, defenses against terrorism have also been developed and continue to adapt to changing security threats and conditions. In Berlin, there is the Joint Counter-Terrorism Centre (GTAZ), which services as an operational communications platform for the cooperation of forty domestic security agencies. Staying true to the country's emphasis on networked security, the GTAZ is operated by the cooperation of representatives from agencies such as the Federal Office for Protection of the Constitution, Military Counter Intelligence Service and criminal police offices of federal states. As a mechanism to improve communication between types of agencies of GTAZ, two analysis units have been created; the Intelligence Information and Analysis Unit (NIAS) and the Police Information and Analysis Unit (PIAS), which work together to form working groups aimed at counter-terrorism. To effectively battle terrorist threats, domestically and internationally Germany has employed an approach encompassing the use of military forces through NATO, police forces, economic and civil components to ensure the safety of its people and those of its allies.

Today, Germany continues the fight against global terrorist groups such as the Islamic State. In an attempt to assist affected areas, such as Iraq, the *Bundeswehr* has provided Iraqi military and Kurdish fighters with arms and is in the process of training the fighters to protect themselves against terrorist infiltrations.⁹³ As the Islamic State

strives to gain more territory and recruit members from all over the world, Germany and its allies continue to adapt their counter-terrorism strategies to address and predict potential attacks.

On Friday November 13, 2015, a horrifying terrorist attack was carried out in Paris, France at six different locations throughout the city, almost simultaneously. The attacks left at least 129 dead, hundreds wounded and at least 100 in critical condition. ⁹⁴ In response, over 150 raids have been carried out in France and Belgium. ⁹⁵ The international community has shown unwavering support to France and the United States and Germany have claimed to stand in solidarity with France in the aftermath of this event. ⁹⁶ While the fight on terror has not ceased, this attack has revitalized international collaborative conversations to adequately respond and effectively fight international terrorism. The global response to this devastating attack and the repercussions that will follow continue to unfold. NATO nations, including Germany have demonstrated willingness to comprehensively support France during this time, including but not limited to military support.

Cyber Security and Cyber Warfare

The world has grown increasingly smaller with the use of the Internet, but it has exposed vulnerabilities in both the spheres of civil society and government. IT networks have improved the collaboration between government agencies and transnational partnerships. The accessibility to information has exponentially increased, and economic possibilities broadened. While the Internet has had many positive influences on the world, it also has the potential to pose multiple security threats. Cyber norms and policies continue to be developed and the more extensive presence of cyber security threats has

required states and international actors to establish cyber security protocol in attempts to counter ever-increasing cyber threats.

Cyber attacks are of great risk because they are low risk and high reward to the perpetrators but high risk to the targets. Individuals, corporations and governments can all be targets of cyber crime but attacks on government and state entities can be particularly dangerous because attacks on a network that houses military, transportation, telecommunication or to the power grid information could have wide spread and devastating impacts. NATO's Tallinn Manual, a nonbinding document compile by experts on cyber security defines a cyber attack as, "a cyber operation, whether offensive or defensive that is reasonably expected to cause injury or death to a person or damage or destruction to objects". See Cyber threats range from cyber crime, which is a broad term and can target any entity or individual; to cyber terrorism, aimed at inciting terror on a group or state; to cyber warfare, which is characterized by a state targeting the IT networks or cyber security of another state.

In addition to working with international organizations such as the EU and NATO, Germany is a part of a bilateral cooperative with the United States regarding cyber security and regulation. The goals of this partnership are to ensure internet freedom and regulation, enhance partnerships in the private sector as well as with other nations in the hopes of creating cyber regulatory norms for government while maintaining freedom and innovation. The two countries are working together to expand communication on cyber security to more effective fight cyber crime and detect potential threats. Borders do not confine cyber space and therefore the development of solutions to ensure global security must also be transnational.

Transnational security measures and cooperation are imperative to the prevention of cyber attacks and cyber warfare, but so are internal collaborative partnerships, which is why Germany continues to develop its own cyber security. One mechanism established by the German government in 2011 is the Nationales Cyber-Abwehrzentrum (National Cyber Defense Center), which works to maximize the cooperation between agencies in the prevention and response of cyber threats. 102 Goals of Germany's international cyber polices are to optimize potential freedoms through Internet use, prevent cyber attacks, maximize economic opportunities and improve diplomatic and international communication. 103 Essential to an effective cyber policy is finding a balance between regulation and freedom, and collaborative work to prevent attacks through innovative military capacities. 104 Similar to the federal government's establishment of GTAZ for counter-terrorism, the Joint Internet Centre (GIZ) promotes cooperation and working groups between various federal ministries such as the Federal Criminal Police Office and the Military Counterintelligence Service. 105 GIZ operates to monitor the online activities of extremists and potential terrorists in order to identify and intercept possible threats. 106 The creation of these various offices within the federal government ensure the application of cyber-security policies and while providing the opportunity for the adaptation of responses as threats manifest and transform.

Adapting to cyber security threats and demands is a relentless task, which can be difficult to sustain. The German Defense Ministry is in the process of writing the White Paper 2016 on German security policy, and in doing so, an expert workshop on cyber-security was held in recent months in attempt to develop the best cyber security policy possible.¹⁰⁷ While the *Bundeswehr* tracks and monitors cyber threats through the

Bundeswehr IT centers, the construction and adoption of cyber warfare policies is ongoing. 108 Currently in effect are the international rules on cyber warfare published under former minister Thomas de Maiziére, adhering to the NATO Tallinn Manual which advises that cyber conflict must abide by international law and the international laws of war. 109

Cyber security, whether it is an individual attack, cyber terrorism or cyber warfare is of high priority in German and international security spheres. Cyber threats can be very volatile and have the potential to be devastating on various levels. Developing effective and comprehensive cyber and defense policies remain in the early stages, as cyber threats pose a relatively new global security challenge. The German military and government, in partnership with international organizations continue to work to improve policy and adapt as threats escalate.

Ursula von der Leyen

During each term of Angela Merkel's chancellorship, she has appointed a new Federal Defense Minister amidst the extensive reforms to the *Bundeswehr*. In 2013, at the beginning of her third term, Merkel appointed Ursula von der Leyen to Federal Minister of Defense, and appointed former minister, Thomas de Maiziere as her Federal Minister of the Interior. Von der Leyen, a member of the Christian Democratic Union (CDU) has the reputation of being a radical reformer. This reputation and her political resume set the stage for von der Leyen to drive home the reforms set in place during the previous decade.

Before entering politics, Ursula von der Leyen studied economics, completed a doctorate in medicine, served as a research assistant in Epidemiology and completed a

Masters in Public Health. 110 In addition to her professional career, she is also a married mother of seven children. She has been criticized as both a mother and a politician, but despite push back, von der Leyen has held a number of roles in both local and federal government and is now the first female Federal Minister of Defense in Germany. Leading up to her appointment as the Federal Minister of Defense, von der Leyen was active in her local government in Hannover, served on the Land Parliament in Lower Saxony, then as the Minister for Social Affairs, Women, Family Affairs and Health of Lower Saxony. 111 Transitioning into the federal realm in 2004, von der Leven continues to be a member of the CDU Presidium, was appointed by Merkel as the Federal Minister for Family Affairs, Senior Citizens, Women and Youth in 2005, and began her tenure as a member of the Bundestag and was then Merkel's appointee as the Federal Minister of Labour and Social Affairs in 2009. Her ambitions, drive and success in previous positions have led many to speculate that she could potentially be Merkel's successor as Chancellor. Von der Leyen's main objective as Federal Minister of Defense is to reform the *Bundeswehr*, a process that had been ongoing for almost a decade when von der Leven took office in 2013.

Von der Leyen and the armed forces are faced with a number of obstacles, the most prevalent being functional and financial shortcomings. In September 2014, a series of transportation mishaps occurred while trying to deliver arms to security forces in Iraq and revealed the dilapidated state of many of the *Bundeswehr's* air transportation vehicles. German defense specialist Thomas Weigold said that equipment shortfalls are a result of a policy, which maximized the use of military equipment with little accumulation of spare parts, leading to the German Air Force using planes that have been

in operation for up to fifty years.¹¹³ Online news magazine *SpiegelOnline* reported that only one of four submarines is operational, 110 of 180 Boxers are deployable, two of thirty-three helicopters operational, and these numbers do not clarify whether the equipment is fully or partially operational.¹¹⁴ Due to its shortcomings in capabilities, Germany was unable to meet the 2014 NATO Defense Planning Process target and as a result would have been unable to assist its NATO allies should the situation arise.¹¹⁵ NATO urges member states to spend at least 2% of their annual GDP on defense, in 2014 Germany only spent 1.29% of GDP but according to some government sources, Germany plans to increase defense spending by 6.2% in the next five years.¹¹⁶

Despite political opposition and equipment deficiencies, Defense Minister von der Leyen appears motivated to continue the modernization of the *Bundeswehr* and increase international involvement. According to former Commissioner for the Armed Forces, Hellmut Königshaus, since von der Leyen entered office, there seems to be a shift in the attitude of the *Bundeswehr* and the defense minister is more open and receptive to concerns regarding the state of the *Bundeswehr*. Von der Leyen is an avid supporter of coalition and partnerships and firmly supports NATO as an active alliance. She strives for a more unified Europe and stands steadfastly behind international law. In an article published in *The Guardian*, Joachim Koschnicke identified von der Leyen as, "one of the more popular politicians" but her seemingly radical reforms and opinions could result in stark opposition, even from within her party. 118

Since her appointment in 2013, Ursula von der Leyen has taken steps toward further reformation of the German armed forces. She is facing criticism as well as, practical obstacles such as a lack of functional equipment, a stressed defense budget, and

a severe deficit of volunteers since the end of the conscription in 2011. Despite these set backs, perhaps one of the most drastic steps has been the launch of an attractiveness campaign to attract young Germans to join the military. The objective of this campaign is to improve the work-life balance of military personnel. Many of the *Bundeswehr* reforms were focused on structure and efficiency; von der Leyen seeks to reform the personnel/personal aspect of the *Bundeswehr*. In order to do this, the armed forces will be made more family-friendly and she seeks to appeal to young people to join the German professional army and therefore must make it competitive and comparable to companies aiming to do the same. The specifics of von der Leyen's reforms for attractiveness will be discussed in the following chapter.

In line with the objectives outlined in the White Paper 2006 for the *Bundeswehr*, von der Leyen has been vocal about European and transatlantic defense partnerships. In March 2015, at the tenth Brussels forum, von der Leyen called for a European army as a way to increase stability, as well as European and transatlantic security. ¹¹⁹ After asserting that Western countries and their democratic values are a target for groups such as the Islamic State, she displayed the needs to cultivate deeper alliances through the already established organizations of the EU, NATO and the OSCE; this includes partnerships between these organizations. ¹²⁰ Von der Leyen believes in the need for a unified European army to ensure stability and support the already unified market and currency, and the openness of borders and the migration between them. The final point of her statement in Brussels was the progress that the *Bundeswehr* has already made toward these goals, such as the Franco-German Brigade, a German decision of the Dutch airborne brigade (and potentially the same with a naval component) and a naval

partnership with Poland.¹²¹ Von der Leyen's goals of reform of the *Bundeswehr* are not confined to the German armed forces, but rather stretch across European and transatlantic borders to reform collective security polices.

The Attractiveness Campaign

The role that conscription played in the *Bundeswehr* was two-fold. It maintained the Bundeswehr's integration into German society, but also it ensured a number of personnel each year. The German armed forces during the period of conscription were not large in the scope of global militaries, nor for the size of Germany but conscription allowed for personnel numbers to be maintained. Adhering to the demands of the people, the Germany became the first country in the world to allow individuals to abstain from mandatory military service based solely on personal objections and beliefs; those of conscription age could opt out of military service and fulfill their civil service obligation through other means, such as working in a hospital residence for the elderly. While acceptable to the German public, the result was a dip in numbers for annual Bundeswehr inductions. Maintaining *Bundeswehr* personnel numbers would become even more difficult for Germany in 2011 with the repeal of conscription. The set of reforms and restructuring under which compulsory military service was removed, left the *Bundeswehr* with a standing army of roughly 175,000; a 30% reduction from the 250,000 before the 2010 reorganization reforms. 122

The end of conscription meant the transition of the *Bundeswehr* to a volunteeronly force, and the development into a professional armed force. Since the introduction of the *Bundeswehr*, few military personnel were considered professional soldiers, but in order to ensure the maintenance of numbers and fruitfully carry out operations falling

under the recent reforms. Germany needed to find a way to increase enlistment rates and retain those recruits. Compared to other German employers, the *Bundeswehr* does not pay very well, is dangerous, and is not very family-friendly. It is understandable why the Bundeswehr may not appeal to many young German men and women, not to mention the ongoing political reluctance to engage in international missions. While many of the reforms were aimed at operational and fiscal efficiency, none was targeted at improving the lives of military personnel. Upon her appointment to office, Federal Minister of Defense Ursula von der Leyen saw a need to develop a mechanism to increase recruitment and retention of military personnel. Von der Leyen's solution was to launch a campaign aimed at increasing the attractiveness of the *Bundeswehr* as an employer. The result was; "Bundeswehr in Führung Aktiv. Attraktiv. Anders.". Von der Leyen's proposed plan was published and is accessible through the *Bundeswehr* website. The document outlines eight topics and twenty-nine measures of resolve as a way to improve the personnel aspect of the *Bundeswehr*, as well as a potential timeline for the accomplishment of each task.

The first topic is the Leadership and Organizational Culture of the *Bundeswehr*. Overall, this topic is aimed at creating the *Bundeswehr* to be a positive and motivating workplace through command structure and good leadership. In order to accomplish this goal, the three methods proposed contain some form of training; the first is an Action Program titled "Good Leadership Structure", carried out through a leadership school; the second is titled "Good Leadership from the Start", a training program in concert with the Center for *Innere Führung* to teach about modern leadership from the very beginning of one's military service; the third is Coaching the Top Staff which is aimed at teaching

command staff how to take an active role in modeling and developing the new leadership culture of the *Bundeswehr*.

The second topic, Mobilizing Potentials focuses on personnel management and recruitment for the *Bundeswehr*. Ideally the *Bundeswehr* will work with potential recruits to offer then positions based on their talents, interests and aptitude. Also a tool in recruitment will be E-recruiting with access to job postings and eventually online registration and application to the *Bundeswehr*. The agenda also calls for a quicker reaction time to applicants. The new plan outlines that interested men and women will receive a response within one week of their application and their entry and placement process will be of high priority. For those who do choose a career in the armed forces, opportunities for further training and development that will add to the value of the individual in both the *Bundeswehr* and the private sector will be made available and highly encouraged. Hand in hand with continuous training and development is the strengthening of the internal labor market. Strengthening the internal labor market aims to retain personnel in the armed forces. It will allow for more flexibility for employees to move to different departments and jobs while remaining in the *Bundeswehr*.

Improving the balance between work and family is the third point of improvement for the *Bundeswehr*. The ultimate goal is to make the military more family-friendly through flexibility and support of family members. First on the agenda is to close the childcare gaps by increasing childcare facilities and tailoring their operating hours to the shifts of *Bundeswehr* personnel. Additionally, the *Bundeswehr* will provide central support to families regarding relocations, and on other necessary topics relating to service, family and social concerns; with the goal of directly connecting *Bundeswehr*

families with the relevant contacts and information as quickly as possible.

Acknowledging the difficulties *Bundeswehr* families encounter during periods of deployment, military personnel will be provided with free communication through phone and Internet during their operational tours. Unfortunately, this does not yet apply to those in naval divisions at sea, but according to the agenda, strides are being taking to extend this opportunity to naval personnel in the future.

Topic four address Working Autonomy within the *Bundeswehr*. This includes a long-term time account, which will allow personnel to build something of a savings account for paid-time off with the flexible options of using it for things such as childcare, personal wellness or in times of emergency. There will also be opportunities for personnel to work remotely; the *Bundeswehr* plans to provide 3,000 laptops and 3,000 tablets and smart phones for this purpose. Working remotely will ideally reduce burdens on commuters, which at the time of this publications accounted for 38% of *Bundeswehr* personnel. Part-time operations will be encouraged when possible for up to 1,000 military personnel and 10,400 civilian employees. The part-time opportunities will also be made available during periods of maternal/paternal time. Personnel will have the option to reduce their weekly hours and effort will be made to ensure they are close to their homes, with the exception of periods of operations or training.

Career paths within the *Bundeswehr* will be diversified with more promotional and development opportunities, as well as longer times at each post. Maximizing time spent at each posts creates stability for *Bundeswehr* families with the ability to create relatively long-term plans and successfully prepare for relocations. The *Bundeswehr* aims to become more transparent with personnel, creating a trusting bond between

management and employee. One mechanism of transparence will be an online portal with service information and opportunities; allowing personnel to stay informed and apply for positions in which they are interested.

A large part of any job is staying healthy and the *Bundeswehr's* six point of reform strives to achieve that. Falling under the subject of health is making the *Bundeswehr* a healthier workplace by creating wellness management projects for physical and mental health. Proposed projects are stress management and prevention, assistance in abstention from smoking and addition prevention, and sport and fitness options.

A necessity in both the wellness of personnel and increasing the attractiveness of the *Bundeswehr* as an employer is modernizing the available housing accommodations. Attempts for modernization will help *Bundeswehr* personnel feel at home and comfortable in their military accommodations. 750 million Euros have been designated for this modernization process and improvements will include new light and modern furniture, and each room will come standard with a television and refrigerator. Additionally, Internet will be made available wherever possible in housing accommodations with priority given to those at training schools.

The last topic of reform set forth by the agenda is titled "Anchoring the *Bundeswehr* in Society". In order to do accomplish this, three solutions are set forth; the presentation of an annual award for "*Bundeswehr* in Society", a national Day of the *Bundeswehr* which will allow military personnel to interact personally with German citizens, and the erection of exhibitions in various locations which would demonstrate the locations unique history and services of that particular locale.

Many of the reforms set forth in *Bundeswehr*. *Aktiv. Attrakitv. Anders.*, were set to begin in 2014 and 2015 through pilot programs. Although it is still too early to gauge the success of the campaign, Federal Minster of Defense Ursula von der Leyen said the *Bundeswehr* has the most recruits since the end of conscription. Von der Leyen's campaign to transform the *Bundeswehr* into an attractive and competitive employer in Germany is designed to yield long term results that will ideally benefit military and civilian personnel, their families, the *Bundeswehr* as an institution, all while maintaining and deepening the relationship between the armed forces and German society. Critics and individuals from opposition political groups support the agenda but display hesitation while emphasizing that there is much more work to be done and that it will be a costly process. 128

German-Russian Relations, the Ukraine and Syria

Relations between Germany and Russia are politically, economically and culturally complex. At the end of World War II, Soviet troops occupied (some would say liberated) eastern Germany and in some circles, they are seen as the heroes. During the period of German division the Soviet Union served as the supervisory power over the German Democratic Republic (GDR). The Soviet Union's role in the economic development of the GDR resulted in lasting partnerships after German reunification and the fall of the Soviet Union. It has been the overt stance of German politicians that Russian integration into Europe is necessary and historically political and economic policies have been enforced to support this belief. The current political climate between Russia and Western countries, as well as the conflict in the Ukraine and now in Syria are

hindering the integration process and negatively impacting the relationship between Germany and the Russian Federation.

According to the German *Auswärtiges Amt* (Federal Foreign Office) website the German-Russian relationship was founded on close and open exchange of political ideas, close economic ties, culture and education exchange and broad civil-society discussion. As of 2008, Germany and Russia began a "Modernization Partnership" aimed at strengthening their relations and cooperation in regards to law, health and demography, energy efficiency, transportation infrastructure and education. ¹²⁹ The driving force for positive German-Russian relations are common interests, such as human rights, regular consultations regarding policy between the countries and strong economic partnerships. ¹³⁰

Recently, German-Russian relations have become strained in light of Russia's annexation of Crimea in 2014 and the current conflict in the Ukraine. Politically, relations have been deteriorating since 2011 and the implementation of Russian President Vladimir Putin's Eurasian Union project, which has resulted in a trend in Russia to gain control of civil-society and the reliance on internal resources rather than American and European partnerships. ¹³¹ These trends have led Russian foreign and domestic policies to stray from the fundamental principles upon which German-Russian relations were built. In response to the changes in Russian political policies, German policy has also seen a shift taking into account the realities of the situation in Russia. ¹³²

In addition to a decline in the political relationship between Russia and Germany, the economic partnership has also been negatively affected. Although Russia is not Germany's leading export or import country, in 2014 Russia accounted for 2.6% of

Germany's total exports and 4.21% of its imports. ¹³³ In 2015, trade between Germany and Russia dropped by 35%. ¹³⁴ Russia's annexation of Crimea and involvement in the Ukraine have led to the imposition of economic sanctions in lieu of military involvement by NATO and European Union member nations, including Germany. Historically in situations with Russia as they are in now, such as in 2008 when Russia tried to take control of Georgia, Germany has reverted back to maintaining the economic relations rather than maintaining a firm stance, but as of now the German government remains strong-handed toward the sanctions on Russia. ¹³⁵ This stance demonstrates the shift in German-Russian relations, as well as Germany commitment to supporting its allies.

German civil-society is often seen as sympathetic to Russia, ¹³⁶ but polls conducted in 2015 reveal that opinions on Russia and what should be done in dealing with current situations vary greatly. According to a Pew Research Poll published in June 2015, only 27% of the reported Germans support Russia, and 23% have favorable views of Putin. ¹³⁷ When asked about the crisis in the Ukraine, 29% of the Germans surveyed saw Russia as primarily responsible for the conflict in the Ukraine and 86% of those surveyed viewed the country as some sort of threat to its neighbors, either minor or major. ¹³⁸ The survey also revealed that 71% of Germans polled support Economic Aid to Ukraine, only 19% favor NATO supplying the Ukraine with arms and 38% surveyed believe that Germany should use military force to defend a NATO ally in serious conflict with Russia. ¹³⁹

Despite political and economic strains between Germany and Russia, both nations aim to end the crisis in Syria. The war in Syria began as a political uprising in 2011 against President Bashar al-Assad's regime; by 2013 it was an all out civil war. ¹⁴⁰ More

than 250,000 people have been killed and to complicate matters, the Islamic extremist group, the Islamic State has entered Syria and gained control of northeast parts of the warring country. As a result of the civil war and Islamic State recruitment and attacks, violence in the region has escalated and over four million people have fled Syria seeking asylum, creating a global humanitarian and migrant crisis. 142

In recent months, the pressure on world powers to intervene in Syria has been growing and in September 2015, Russia launched air strikes targeting Islamic State territories in Syria. And have accused Russia of targeting opposition fighters supported by the United States and other western countries. Despite Germany's alliances in the west and lack of support for the al-Assad government, German officials have said that the al-Assad government and coalition with countries such as Russia, Iran, Iraq and Turkey are imperative for the resolution of the civil war in Syria. Germany's historical relations with Russia has allowed them to continue be strategically placed between the global east and west.

The United Kingdom and France have also shown interest in sending military forces to intervene in Syria in the fight against the Islamic State, to which the foreign minister of Germany was openly critical and warned that it could worsen the situation. ¹⁴⁶ As the debates continue on how to resolve both the civil war in Syria and how to reclaim the territories occupied by the Islamic State, Germany and other states in the region are scrambling to accommodate the hordes of refugee and asylum seekers from Syria. In Germany, Federal Defense Minister Ursula von der Leyen is utilizing the *Bundeswehr* to assist those entering Germany. Throughout the country, soldiers are helping build tents,

assemble beds and deliver food and other necessities.¹⁴⁷ The *Bundeswehr* is enacting a concept "*Helfende Hände*" (Helping Hands) to help accommodate the refugees and asylum seekers.¹⁴⁸ According to the *Bundeswehr* website, as of November 2015, eighty projects are underway with participation of 6,000 *Bundeswehr* personnel.¹⁴⁹

Germany is working to adhere to its global partnerships while advocating for what it believes is the best plan of action. German-Russian relations, founded on common interests are strained due to Russia's deviation from those principles and actions both domestically and internationally, specifically in the Ukraine. Germany stands with the rest of the western nations in urging Russia to reform its policies and work harder to alleviate the conflict in the Ukraine. Western countries and Russia acknowledge the importance of ending the crisis in Syria but cannot come to the table to discuss a diplomatic resolution. While Germany encourages Russian involvement in developing a solution, it does not advocate for military escalation on either side, instead the country is choosing to stand in the middle calling for east and west to reconcile their differences in the interest of helping those displaced and in danger as a result of the crisis in Syria. The words of German government officials can only go so far, and in maintaining their humanitarian position, Germany is doing what it can to alleviate the situation for refugee and asylum seekers by employing the *Bundeswehr* in maximizing accommodations and services to those entering Germany.

Chancellor Angela Merkel has until recently maintained an open door policy to refugee and asylum seekers during the Syrian migration crisis. In mid-November of 2015, it was estimated that between 450,000 to 800,000 refugees would enter Germany. Merkel did not harbor the support of many in Germany, including members of her own

party, the Christian Democratic Union and her own Minister of the Interior, Thomas de Maiziére. Those opposing Merkel expressed concern that there is a lack of resources needed to effectively resettle and integrate refugees in Germany. According to a *Spiegel Online* article from November 20, 2015, Chancellor Merkel, at the G-20 Summit in Turkey less than a week earlier, alluded to a quota system for refugees entering European nations in order to better manage the influx of people. The transition of Merkel's stance on limiting the number of refugees settling Germany does not necessarily signify a change in her policy stance, but rather a practical realization of the country's resource capacity and lack of sustainability of up to 10,000 refugees entering the country each day.

Chapter Five Conclusion

The gray area within Germany's challenge to find a balance between adhering to international demands and maintaining the civil-military relationship between the German people and the *Bundeswehr* inhibits the ability to differentiate black and white. German history played a significant role in the establishment of the *Bundeswehr* and served as a demonstration that the reconstruction of a democratic government was proving successful. For decades after World War II, Germans were perceived as villains, a sentiment, which led to Germans carrying a historical burden that became embedded in their culture. It has been seventy years since the end of World War II, the world has changed greatly and Germany has become a well-respected nation in the international community, yet the impact of the historical burden lingers within German society and is made apparent by public opinion.

The German government has made efforts to adapt to the changing world and the changing role that Germany plays in geopolitics. The White Paper 2006, outlined reforms to the German Defense Ministry and the *Bundeswehr* in response to the changing geopolitical climate and global security threats, most significantly marked by the terrorist attacks on the United States on September 11, 2001. The reforms set forth were aimed at adapting to unfamiliar security challenges and increasing Germany's capabilities as a military ally, all while operating within the confines of the German Basic Law and the core concept of *Innere Führung*. The 2011 ending of compulsory military service was a direct tug on the German civil-military relationship.

The expansion of *Bundeswehr* capabilities discussed in the White Paper 2006 was not so drastic to cause a significant wedge between the armed forces and the German

people. The shock and strain on the civil-military relationship was magnified by the simultaneous involvement in international conflict. Germany's assertion to take on more responsibility is politically positive for the country, but the seemingly sudden increase in international and military engagement, have not yet been navigated by German society. The culture of pacifism and relative isolationism of the German public is now generational; culture and societal norms do not change because policies change.

Security threats and challenges continue to evolve, as do the policies set in place to address them. Reforms presented in the White Paper 2006, as well as those which will be published in the White Paper 2016 provide mechanisms to align Germany with its allies as a positive contributing force to global, European and domestic security. While the *Bundeswehr* has modernized operationally and strategically, on the level of the soldiers and their relations with society, there is still much to do. Federal Defense Minister, Ursula von der Leyen has taken the initiative to modernize the personnel/personal part of the *Bundeswehr*. Although it is too soon to evaluate the success of her campaign to improve the attractiveness of the *Bundeswehr*, it has the potential to cultivate the societal transformation needed to adapt the German civilmilitary relationship to current situations. By boosting morale within the armed forces, the change in self-perception of the soldier could have an impact on greater society's perception of the soldier.

This thesis set out to discover how Germany would find a balance between the international call to do more within the global defense community, and the constitutionally bound civil-military relationship. The civil-military relationship characterized by *Innere Führung* translated to the solider being a citizen in uniform. The

Bundeswehr reforms appeared to challenge concept of the citizen in uniform, but maybe what it means to be a citizen and consequently a citizen in uniform just needs to be redefined. International terrorism, cyber threats, complex international relations and humanitarian crises are the reality of our globalized world and the dissolution of borders and transnational partnerships define the future. The modernization of the *Bundeswehr* and the increased involvement has not swayed Germany from their moral compass and therefore it has not been unfaithful to its people. The country has remained vocal with its reservations regarding military conflicts, and modernizing the military and increased involvement does not define the global role Germany will take, but rather places it in a strategic position to assert its values and cultivate collaborative transnational relations.

¹ Bald, Die Bundeswehr; eine kritische Geschichte.

² Bötel, "Innere Führung" ³ Uhde, "Establishment of armed forces"

⁴ Fritsch, "History of the Bundeswehr, part 1"

⁵ Ibid.

⁶ Ibid.

⁷ Ibid.

⁸ Ibid.

⁹ Ibid.

¹⁰ Ibid.

¹¹ Ibid.

¹² Ibid.

¹³ Fritsch, "History of the Bundeswehr, part 2"

¹⁴ Ibid.

¹⁵ Ibid.

¹⁶ Ibid.

¹⁷ Wiegand, "The Federal Constitutional Court"; Uhde, "Establishment of armed forces"

¹⁸ AAP-06 NATO Glossary of Terms and Definitions 2015

¹⁹ Sloan, "Military doctrine, command philosophy", 244

²⁰ Sloan, "Military doctrine, command philosophy"

²¹ Burk, "Theories of civil-military relations", 8

```
<sup>22</sup> Huntington, "The soldier and the state", 1

<sup>23</sup> McGregor, "The role of Innere Führung", 2
<sup>24</sup> Bötel, "Innere Führung"; Koltermann "Citizen in uniform"; Kucera, "Can 'Citizen in
uniform' survive?"
<sup>25</sup> Bötel, "Innere Führung"
<sup>26</sup> Ibid.
<sup>27</sup> Ibid.
<sup>28</sup> Frevert, "A nation in Barracks", 264
<sup>29</sup> Huntington, "The soldier and the state", 123
Janowitz, "The professional soldier", Kucera, ""Can 'Citizen in uniform' survive?", 55
<sup>31</sup> Kucera, "Can 'Citizen in uniform' survive?", 58; Klein and Külmann, "Coping with
the Peace Dividend"; Gerhard Kummel, "The Winds of Change"
<sup>32</sup> Koltermann "Citizen in uniform"; Kucera, "Can 'Citizen in uniform' survive?"; Maull,
"German foreign policy"
33 Koltermann "Citizen in uniform"
<sup>34</sup> Kucera, "Can 'Citizen in uniform' survive?", 57
35 Ibid.
<sup>36</sup> White Paper 2006 on German Security and the Future of the Bundeswehr, 6
<sup>37</sup> Ibid.
<sup>38</sup> Ibid., 7
<sup>39</sup> Ibid.
<sup>40</sup> Ibid., 53
<sup>41</sup> Ibid,. 57
<sup>42</sup> Ibid., 56
<sup>43</sup> Ibid., 69
<sup>44</sup> Ibid., 60
<sup>45</sup> Ibid., 61
<sup>46</sup> Ibid., 62-63
<sup>47</sup> Ibid., 63
<sup>48</sup> Ibid., 64
<sup>49</sup> Ibid.,65
<sup>50</sup> Ibid., 67
<sup>51</sup> Ibid., 68
<sup>52</sup> Ibid., 69
<sup>53</sup> Ibid.
<sup>54</sup> Ibid.,73
<sup>55</sup> Ibid.,74
<sup>56</sup> Ibid., 81
<sup>57</sup> Ibid., 82-84
<sup>58</sup> Ibid., 85
<sup>59</sup> Ibid., 91
<sup>60</sup> Ibid., 98
<sup>61</sup> Ibid.,101-103
```

⁶² Ibid.,104, 110, 111 ⁶³ Ibid.,112, 117

```
<sup>64</sup> Ibid.,114
65 Ibid., 115-117
66 Forsberg, "German Foreign Policy", 215
67 Snyder, "Possibilities for Peace", 184
68 Snyder, "Possibilities for Peace", 184; Riecker, "No War Please, We're German"
<sup>69</sup> Riecker, "No War Please, We're German"
<sup>70</sup> Snyder, "Possibilities for Peace" 184, Weimberg & Ryan, "Soldiers of Conscience"
<sup>71</sup> Graw, "Deutsche sind nicht stolz"
<sup>72</sup> Riecker, "No War Please, We're German"; Graw, "Deutsche sind nicht stolz"
<sup>73</sup> Riecker "No War Please. We're German"
<sup>74</sup> Ibid.
<sup>75</sup> AFP/dpa. "Bundeswehrreform: Viele Soldaten Unzufrieden."
<sup>76</sup> "Umfrage Zu Auslandseinsätzen: Deutsche Lehnen Stärkeres Engagement in Der Welt
Ab."
<sup>77</sup> Ibid.
78 "Umfrage Deutsche Wollen Kein großeres Militärisches Engagement"
<sup>79</sup> Frazcek, "A New age for German troops?"
80 Ibid.
81 Forsberg, "German Foreign Policy", 215
83 Ibid., 217; Federal Ministry of Defense, "Germany in NATO"
84 Sangar, "The German Bundeswehr after Afghanistan", 28
<sup>86</sup> Frazcek, "A New age for German troops?"
87 "Germany in NATO [North Atlantic Treaty Organisation]."
88 Ibid.
89 Ibid.
90 "Gemeinsames Terrorismusabwehrzentrum (GTAZ- Joint Counter-Terrorism Centre)."
92 Kaim, "Internationale Sicherheitspolitik Nach Dem 11. September".
93 "Germany to Expand Bundeswehr Training Mission in Iraq".
<sup>94</sup> "Paris attacks: What happened on that night".
95 Ibid.
<sup>96</sup> Strack, "Germany's political response to the Paris attacks".
<sup>97</sup> Dilascio, "Cyberwarfare"
98 Schmitt, "Tallinn Manual", 106
99 Dilascio, "Cyberwarfare"
<sup>100</sup> Joint Statement on U.S.-Germany Cyber Bilateral Meeting.
<sup>101</sup> Ibid.
102 "Cyber Attacks."
<sup>103</sup> "International Cyber Policy".
<sup>105</sup> "Gemeinsames Internetzentrum (GIZ)".
```

¹⁰⁷ Manthey and Stöhr, "Weißbuchprozess".

```
<sup>108</sup> Beu, "Cyber-Sicherheit hat viele Facetten", Manthey and Stöhr, "Weißbuchprozess".
```

¹⁰⁹ Law of Armed Conflict Manual, Joint Service Regulation; Schmitt, "Tallinn Manual".

^{110 &}quot;Ursula Von Der Leyen Bundesministerin Der Verteidigung".

¹¹¹ Ibid.

¹¹² Smale, "Seeking Global Role, German Military Stumbles".

¹¹³ Ibid.

¹¹⁴ Spiegel Staff, "Germany's Disarmed Forces".

¹¹⁵ Ibid.

¹¹⁶ Siebold and Copley,"Germany to boost mid-term defense spending".

Pöhle, "Könighaus: 'Much remains to be done in the Bundeswehr'".

¹¹⁸ Pidd, "Ursula von der Leyen: Germany's next chancellor?".

¹¹⁹ Von der Leyen, Von Der Leyen at the 10th Brussels Forum.

¹²⁰ Ibid.

¹²¹ Ibid.

Pöhle, "Obstacles to Germany's new 'family-friendly military".

¹²³ BMVg Presse- und Informationsstab. *Agenda Bundeswehr in Führung Aktiv*. *Attraktiv*. *Anders*.

¹²⁴ Ibid.

¹²⁵ Ibid.

¹²⁶ Werkhäuser, "Bundeswehr seeks makeover as attractive employer".

¹²⁷ Ibid.

¹²⁸ Müller, "Bundeswehr Unveils Plan to Make Military Life More Appealing".

¹²⁹ "Partner in Europa".

¹³⁰ Ibid.

¹³¹ Adomeit, "German-Russian Relations", 10.

¹³² Ibid., 7.

¹³³ Foreign trade Ranking of Germany's Trading Partners in Foreign Trade.

^{134 &}quot;Russian Federation".

¹³⁵ Adomeit, German-Russian Relations", 23.

¹³⁶ Ibid., 8

¹³⁷ Pew Research Center, NATO publics blame Russia for Ukrainian crisis.

¹³⁸ Ibid.

¹³⁹ Ibid.

¹⁴⁰ Asare, "Syria, The story of the conflict".

¹⁴¹ Ibid.

¹⁴² Ibid.

^{143 &}quot;German Vice Chancellor calls for better collaboration with Russia".

¹⁴⁴ Ibid

¹⁴⁵ "Syrien: Deutschland bricht aus US-Allianz gegen Russland aus"; "German Vice Chancellor calls for better collaboration with Russia"; "Assad regime must be involved in Syria Solution: Merkel".

¹⁴⁶ Thomas, "German warns Allies On the Dangers"

¹⁴⁷ Bonk, "Überblick: Flüchtlingshilfe der Bundeswehr in Deutschland"

¹⁴⁸ Ibid.

¹⁴⁹ Ibid.

¹⁵⁰ Spiegel Staff, "Mother Angela: Merkel's Refugee Policy Divides Europe"
151 Ibid.
152 Amann, Melanie; et al. "Quiet Capitulation: Merkel Slowly Changes Tune on Refugee

Bibliography

- AAP-6. NATO Glossary of Terms and Definitions. Brussels: NATO, 2015.
- Adomeit, Hannes. "German-Russian Relations: Change of Paradigm Versus 'Business as Usual'." *Notes Du Cerfa* no. 120 (February 19, 2015).
- AFP/dpa. "Bundeswehrreform: Viele Soldaten Unzufrieden." *Badische Zeitung*, September 8, 2012, 2012.
- Aman, Melanie, Horand Knaup, Ralf Neukirch, and René Pfister. "Quiet Capitulation: Merkel Slowly Changes Tune on Refugee Issue." *Spiegel Online* (November 20, 2015, .
- Asare, Patrick and David Gritten, James Offer, Lucy Rodgers. "Syria: The Story of the Conflict." BBC2015. http://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-26116868.
- "Assad Regime must be Involved in Syria Solution: Merkel." Deutsche Welle. Accessed November 2, 2015. http://dw.com/p/1GiKr.
- Bald, Detlef. Die Bundeswehr; Eine Kritische Geschichte. Munich: Beck, 2005.
- Barrett, Bethany, Peter A. Furia, and Richard Sobel. *Public Opinion & International Intervention: Lessons from the Iraq War*. Washington, D.C.: Potomac Books, 2010. http://o-search.ebscohost.com.ignacio.usfca.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=452874&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- *Basic Law for the Federal Republic of Germany*, (2012).
- Belkin, Paul. "German Foreign Policy and Security Policy: Trends and Transatlantic Implications." *Current Politics & Economics of Europe* 21, no. 2/3 (2010): 211.
- Bennhold, Katrin. "The Good Mother, and Modern Politician." *The New York Times*, January 17, 2010, 2010, Online.
- Beu, Andreas. "Cyber-Sicherheit hat viele Facetten." Bundesministerium der Verteidigung. Accessed October 30, 2015, .

 http://www.bmvg.de/portal/a/bmvg/!ut/p/c4/NYuxDsIwDET_yE5UMdCNkoUVCZ_WwpW0UGTVJZx24eNJBu6kN9zT4Qtrk9spOKGc3IpPtDP10wFT3AO8c-G6QqREH_FMJeLYPouHOScvjeKTUGVgJ5lhyyxrM4W5GqAFrdJmUFr9o79na6-6P7tQpcxvuuMV4-QF7VbiW/">http://www.bmvg.de/portal/a/bmvg/!ut/p/c4/NYuxDsIwDET_yE5UMdCNkoUVCZ_WwpW0UGTVJZx24eNJBu6kN9zT4Qtrk9spOKGc3IpPtDP10wFT3AO8c-G6QqREH_FMJeLYPouHOScvjeKTUGVgJ5lhyyxrM4W5GqAFrdJmUFr9o79na6-6P7tQpcxvuuMV4-QF7VbiW/.
- BMVg Presse- und Informationsstab. *Agenda Bundeswehr in Führung Aktiv*. *Attraktiv*. *Anders*.: Bundesministerium der Verteidigung, 2014.

- ——... *Ursula Von Der Leyen: "Bundeswehr Wechselt auf die Überholspur"*. Berlin: Bundesministerium der Verteidigung, 2014.
- Bonk, Ralf. Überblick: Flüchtlingshilfe der Bundeswehr in Deutschland. Berlin: Bundesministerium der Verteidigung.
- Borger, Julian. "Germany Slowly Comes to Terms with Sending its Armed Forces Abroad." *The Guardian*, 2012.
- Bötel, Frank. "Bundeswehr Tradition." German Federal Ministry of Defense 2015. http://www.bmvg.de/portal/a/bmvg/!ut/p/c4/FcyxDYAwDAXRWVjA7unYAuiSYC VfCQbFBtYHdO3T8cpfGm7k4Dg0NJ55SRjjQ3G_MxlSkV4EbufR4KgUL93EHim dslgqn3Ah72HDv7AGhSifdRpe_wgTvg!!/.
- ——. "Innere Führung (Leadership and Civic Education) and the Citizen in Uniform." Bundesministerium der Verteidigung. Accessed April 25, 2015. http://www.bmvg.de/portal/a/bmvg/!ut/p/c4/Fcw5EoAgDEDRG5HezlO4NA5gDBkhmkzXF-dXr-lwwkx0Z9KVo2gPOxyWFzOUCZ1UYeswO-RaUvRc-VWmyY1loMuKRTDj9bSJJgTbf-MEBwqkENYPn9-ejA!!/.
- ——. "Outlook: The Bundeswehr of the Future." German Federal Ministry of Defence 2015. <a href="http://www.bmvg.de/portal/a/bmvg/!ut/p/c4/TY3RDoMgDEW_xR-gSjMke9tXbO4NIWE3BIJVf3_wsGQ5yWlub5rCEwrBHOQMUwzGwwOGia7jKcb1cOId91y2YqNpsXmxxFuKnpg-cK-nsxVTDJar2QamYpcNxyxSzOxrs-dcGkEzDNjhBbW0iCiLa8IyFUps_1FavXpErboelVFKtj_qU-9gsAHSuurz1jRf7cL9qg!!/.
- Burk, James. "Theories of Democratic Civil-Military Relations." *Armed Forces & Society (0095327X)* 29, no. 1 (09, 2002): 7-29. http://o-search.ebscohost.com.ignacio.usfca.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=88405 14&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- Clements, Ben. "Public Opinion and Military Intervention: Afghanistan, Iraq and Libya." *Political Quarterly* 84, no. 1 (Jan, 2013): 119-131. doi:10.1111/j.1467-923X.2013.02427.x. http://o-search.ebscohost.com.ignacio.usfca.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=poh&AN=86369424&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- Conradt, David P. "Political Culture in Unified Germany: The First Ten Years." *German Politics and Society* no. 2 (2002): 43. http://0-search.ebscohost.com.ignacio.usfca.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsggo&AN=edsgcl.93089100&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- Copley, Caroline, Stephen Brown and Sabine Siebold. "Germany to Boost Mid-Term Defense Spending." Reuters 2015.

- "The Council of Europe and Combating International Terrorism." Auswärtiges Amt 2015. http://www.auswaertiges-amt.de/EN/Aussenpolitik/GlobaleFragen/TerrorismusOK/TerrorismusbekaempfungER_node.html.
- "Counter-Terrorism." Bundesministerium des Innern 2015. http://www.bmi.bund.de/EN/Topics/Security/Counter-terrorism/counter-terrorism node.html.
- "Cyber Attacks." Bundesamt für Verfassungsschutz 2015. https://www.verfassungsschutz.de/en/fields-of-work/cyber-attacks.
- Dalgaard-Nielsen, Anja. *Germany, Pacifism and Peace Enforcement*. Manchester: Manchester University Press, 2006. http://o-search.ebscohost.com.ignacio.usfca.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=515035&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- DiLascio, Tracey M. "Cyberwarfare." *Salem Press Encyclopedia* (January, 2015). http://0-search.ebscohost.com.ignacio.usfca.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=ers&AN=89158093&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- Domin, Thierry. NATO. http://www.nato.int/sfor/indexinf/125/p03a/t0103a.htm.
- Donfried, Karen and Wolfgang Ischinger. "It's Time to Rebuild Trust." *Spiegel Online* (2015).
- Dyson, Tom. "German Defence Policy Under the Second Merkel Chancellorship."

 German Politics 23, no. 4 (12, 2014): 460-476. doi:10.1080/09644008.2014.953486.

 http://o-search.ebscohost.com.ignacio.usfca.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=poh&AN=99907400&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- ——. "Managing Convergence: German Military Doctrine and Capabilities in the 21st Century." *Defence Studies* 11, no. 2 (June 2011, 2011): 244-270.
- Engelhardt, Manfred. "*Transatlantic Transformations: Equipping NATO for the 21st Century*." Chap. Chapter 5, In, edited by Hamilton, Daniel S., 93-113. Washington D.C.: Center for Transatlantic Relations, 2004.
- Eyth, Howard C. "Post-Reunification German Military Involvement in International Crises: Foreign and Security Policy Commensurate with National Sovereignty." Master's Thesis, Naval Postgraduate School. Monterey, California, 2001.
- Farrell, Theo, Frans P. B. Osinga, and Terry Terriff. A Transformation Gap?: American Innovations and European Military Change. Stanford, Calif: Stanford University

- Press, 2010. http://0-
- search.ebscohost.com.ignacio.usfca.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=713 304&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- Fogarty, Francesca. "Backing the Bundeswehr." *Armed Forces & Society* (0095327X) 41, no. 4 (10, 2015): 742. http://o-search.ebscohost.com.ignacio.usfca.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edb&AN=109397690&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- Foreign trade Ranking of Germany's Trading Partners in Foreign Trade. Wiesbaden, Germany: Statistisches Bundesamt (Federal Statistical Office), 2015.
- Forsberg, Tuomas. "German Foreign Policy and the War on Iraq: Anti-Americanism, Pacifism Or Emancipation." *Security Dialogue* 36, no. 2 (June 2005): 213-231.
- Frazcek, Jennifer. "A New Age for German Troops? From Aid Deliveries to Combat Missions." Deutsche Welle2015.
- Frevert, Ute. A Nation in Barracks: Modern Germany, Military Conscription and Civil Society. New York, NY: Berg, 2004.
- Fritsch, Johann. "The History of the Bundeswehr, Part 1: The Beginnings and the Cold War." German Federal Ministry of Defense2015. http://www.bmvg.de/portal/a/bmvg/!ut/p/c4/DcpBEsIgDEbhs3iBZO_OW2g3TMDf
 https://kahttpstra-jlv-T3eeOVymkrY7tL5ya9i93xR_p5K00rFqLCYx94trFH---RvzQh2kmKWuI0DiH4Er0tLUpAdGasOgfLTH7Q9kroPv/.
- ——. "The History of the Bundeswehr, Part 2: Army of Unity." German Federal Ministry of Defense2015.
 http://www.bmvg.de/portal/a/bmvg/!ut/p/c4/FcrBDYAgDAXQWVygvXtzC_ViAH9
 https://www.bmvg.de/portal/a/bmvg/!ut/p/c4/FcrBDYAgDAXQWVygvXtzC_ViAH9
 https://www.bmvg.de/portal/a/bmvg/!ut/p/c4/FcrBDYAgDAXQWVygvXtzC_ViAH9
 https://www.bmvg.de/portal/a/bmvg/!ut/p/c4/FcrBDYAgDAXQWVygvXtzC_ViAH9
 https://www.bmvg.de/portal/a/bmvg/!ut/p/c4/FcrBDYAgDAXQWVygvXtzC_ViAH9
 https://www.bmvg.de/portal/a/bmvg/!ut/p/c4/FcrBDYAgDAXQWVygvXtzC_ViAH9
 https://www.bmvg.de/portal/a/bwwg/!ut/p/c4/FcrBDYAgDAXQWVygvXtzC_ViAH9
 https://www.bmvg.de/portal/a/bwwg/!ut/p/c4/FcrBDYAgDAXQWVygvXtzC_ViAH9
 https://www.bmvg.de/portal/a/bwwg/!ut/p/c4/FcrBDYAgDAXQWVygvXtzC_ViAH9
 https://www.bmvg.de/portal/a/bwwg/!ut/p/c4/FcrBDYAgDAXQWVygvXtzC_ViAH9
 https://www.bmvg.de/portal/a/bwwg/!ut/p/c4/FcrBDYAgDAXQWVygvXtzC_ViAH9
 https://www.bmvg.de/portal/a/bwwg/!ut/p/c4/FcrBDYAgDAXQWVygvXtzC
- ——. "The History of the Bundeswehr, Part 3: Armed Forces in Transition." German Federal Ministry of Defense2015.

 http://www.bmvg.de/portal/a/bmvg/!ut/p/c4/DcrBEYQgDADAWq6B50_PLjw_Dm_AkGQSdJGj7MvtdXHFo4ZEcXK4WTlzwn2SKL8T6ZDBJTMokbvd1ikuB2NtO9h_IrZLLEYziBuY5UNNDhtEndeo3aE-Nd5t8H16n84Q!!/.
- Fulbrook, Mary. The Divided Nation. New York: Oxford University Press, 1992.
- Gedmin, Jeffrey. "The Case for Berlin." *World Affairs* 177, no. 4 (Nov, 2014): 8-16. http://0-search.ebscohost.com.ignacio.usfca.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=poh&AN=99408210&site=eds-live&scope=site.

64

- "Gemeinsames Internetzentrum (GIZ)." Bundesamt für Verfassungsschutz. Accessed November 1, 2015. https://www.verfassungsschutz.de/de/arbeitsfelder/afislamismus-und-islamistischer-terrorismus/gemeinsames-internetzentrum-giz.
- "Gemeinsames Terrorismusabwehrzentrum (GTAZ- Joint Counter-Terrorism Centre)."

 Bundesamt für Verfassungsschutz 2015.

 https://www.verfassungsschutz.de/de/arbeitsfelder/af-islamismus-und-islamistischer-terrorismus/gemeinsames-terrorismusabwehrzentrum-gtaz.
- "German Defense Chief von der Leyen Calls for Stronger NATO Backing in Ukraine Crisis." *Deutsche Welle*, March 23, 2014, 2014.
- "German Vice Chancellor Calls for Better Collaboration with Russia Over Ukraine and Syria." *Deutsche Welle*, October 28, 2015.
- "Germany in NATO [North Atlantic Treaty Organisation]." Bundesministerium der Verteidigung 2015.

 http://www.bmvg.de/portal/a/bmvg/!ut/p/c4/LYpBDoMwDATfwgfse2_9BfQSmcRKVqQOSlz6_QKq9jQzyy8-Z3Igi6OZVJ55iXisX1rfR6aBWLQXhY-9VTg2grl2-981tJ7FMG5WozM0SvrxEUsVSwEWkvZwed635_QD2vlEsA!!/.
- "Germany to Expand Bundeswehr Training Mission in Iraq." *Deutsche Welle*, December 11, 2014.
- Graw, Ansgar. "Deutsche Sind Nicht Nicht Stolz Auf Die Bundeswehr." *Die Welt*, May 19, 2007.
- Holzgrefe, J. L. and Robert O. Keohane. *Humanitarian Intervention: Ethical, Legal and Political Dilemmas* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2003, 2003. http://o-search.ebscohost.com.ignacio.usfca.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cat00548a&AN=iusf.b1652371&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- Huntington, Samuel P. *The Clash of Civilizations and the Remaking of World Order* New York: Simon & Schuster, 1996], 1996. http://osearch.ebscohost.com.ignacio.usfca.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cat00548a&AN=iusf.b1449550&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- ——. The Soldier and the State: The Theory and Politics of Civil-Military Relations
 Cambridge: Belknap Press of Harvard University Press, 1957, 1957. http://o-search.ebscohost.com.ignacio.usfca.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cat00548a&AN=iusf.b1303997&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- "International Cyber Policy." Auswärtiges Amt 2015. http://www.auswaertiges-amt.de/EN/Aussenpolitik/GlobaleFragen/Cyber-Aussenpolitik/KS Cyber-Aussenpolitik node.html.

- Janowitz, Morris. *The Professional Soldier: A Social and Political Portrait* Glencoe, Ill.: Free Press, 1960], 1960. http://o-search.ebscohost.com.ignacio.usfca.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cat00548a&AN
 - =iusf.b1140322&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- Joint Statement on U.S.-Germany Cyber Bilateral Meeting. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of State, Office of the Spokesperson, 2014.
- Kaim, Markus. *Internationale Sicherheitspolitik Nach Dem 11*. *September* Bundeszentrale für politische Bildung, 2011.
- Kegley, Charles W. and Shannon L. Blanton. *World Politics: Trend and Transition*. 2010-2011 ed. Boston, MA: Wadsworth Cengage Learning, 2011.
- Klein, Paul and Jürgen Kuhlmann. "Coping with the Peace Dividend." In *Military and Society in 21st Century Europe- A Comparative Analysis*, edited by Kuhlmann, Jürgen and Jean Callaghan, 191: Transaction Publishers, 2000.
- Koltermann, Jens O. "Citizen in Uniform: Democratic Germany and the Changing Bundeswehr." *Parameters: U.S. Army War College* 42, no. 2 (Summer2012, 2012): 108. http://o-search.ebscohost.com.ignacio.usfca.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edb&AN=84203214&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- Kucera, Tomas. "Can 'Citizen in Uniform' Survive? German Civil–Military Culture Responding to War." *German Politics* 21, no. 1 (03, 2012): 53-72. doi:10.1080/09644008.2011.606563. http://o-search.ebscohost.com.ignacio.usfca.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=poh&AN=7195913&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- Kümmel, Gerhard. "The Winds of Change: The Transition from Armed Forces for Peace to New Missions for the Bundeswehr and its Impact on Civil-Military Relations." *Journal of Strategic Studies* 26, no. 2 (2003): 7-28.
- Kundnani, Hans. "Germany as a Geo-Economic Power." *Washington Quarterly* 34, no. 3 (Summer2011, 2011): 31-45. doi:10.1080/0163660X.2011.587950. http://osearch.ebscohost.com.ignacio.usfca.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=hia&AN=6145983&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- Law of Armed Conflict Manual, Joint Service Regulation 16/2.
- Manthey, Florian and Florian Stöhr. "Weißbuchprozess: Bundeswehr such Dialog mit Cyber-Community." Bundesministerium der Verteidigung. Accessed November 1, 2015.
 - http://www.bmvg.de/portal/a/bmvg/!ut/p/c4/NYqxDoMwDAX_KI4Zu4GgUjuytHR_LQpRaIgkyBpZ-fJOBd9It9-ADhWQOCkYoJ7PAGyZHN3sqG4-

- gTk bZnf3hVd9zl65nLxUi09CxYGNZFZrZllq2ZlLUTTDpLHvNOpr-Gub-AcEZv-0Y2wxtj-ARZOnGM!/.
- Maull, Hanns W. "German Foreign Policy, Post-Kosovo: Still a 'Civilian Power'?" *German Politics* 9, no. 2 (08, 2000). http://o-search.ebscohost.com.ignacio.usfca.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=poh&AN=6900040&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- McGregor, Petra Maj, USAF. "The Role of *Innere Führung* in German Civil-Military Relations." *Strategic Insights* V, no. 4 (April 2006).
- Müller, Albrecht. "Bundeswehr Unveils Plan to make Military Life More Appealing." Defense News, June 4, 2014, Online, sec. World News, Europe.
- "NATO and the Fight Against Terrorism." Auswärtiges Amt 2015.

 http://www.auswaertiges-amt.de/EN/Aussenpolitik/GlobaleFragen/TerrorismusOK/TerrorismusbekaempfungNATO node.html.
- "New White Paper by 2016." German Missions in Australia 2015. http://www.australien.diplo.de/ Zentrale 20Komponenten/Ganze-Seiten/en/Politik/Weissbuch.html?site=434757.
- Noetzel, Timo and Benjamin Schreer. "All the Way? The Evolution of German Military Power." *International Affairs* 84, no. 2 (03, 2008): 211-221. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2346.2008.00700.x. http://o-search.ebscohost.com.ignacio.usfca.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=bth&AN=3006848&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- "Paris Attacks: What Happened on the Night." BBC. Accessed November 28, 2015. http://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-34818994.
- "Partner in Europa." Auswärtiges Amt 2015. http://www.auswaertiges-amt.de/DE/Aussenpolitik/RegionaleSchwerpunkte/Russland/Russland node.html.
- Pew Research Center. Germany and the United States: Reliable Allies, May 2015.
- ——... NATO Publics Blame Russia for Ukrainian Crisis, but Reluctant to Provide Military Aide, June, 2015.
- Pidd, Helen. "Ursula Von Der Leyen: Germany's Next Chancellor?" *The Guardian*, September 9, 2011, Online.
- Pöhle, Sven. "Königshaus: "Much Remains to be done in the Bundeswehr"." Deutsche Welle2015. http://dw.com/p/1FTKe.

67

- ——. "Obstacles to Germany's New 'Family-Friendly Military'." Deutsche Welle2015. http://dw.com/p/1Aq29.
- Riecker, Joachim. "No War, Please, We're German. A Study shows Opposition to Military Conflict Resolution." *The Atlantic Times*, May 2006.
- "Russian Federation." Auswärtiges Amt 2015. http://www.auswaertiges-amt.de/EN/Aussenpolitik/Laender/Laenderinfos/01-Nodes/RussischeFoederation_node.html.
- Sangar, Eric. "The German Bundeswehr After Afghanistan: A Return to which "Normality?". *Polish Quarterly of International Affairs* 23, no. 2 (04, 2014): 27-42. http://0-search.ebscohost.com.ignacio.usfca.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=poh&AN=9965787&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- Schmitt, Michael N. *Tallinn Manual on the International Law Applicable to Cyberwarfare*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 2013.
- Seibert, Bjoern H. "A Quiet Revolution." *RUSI Journal: Royal United Services Institute* for Defence Studies 157, no. 1 (Feb, 2012): 60. http://o-search.ebscohost.com.ignacio.usfca.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edb&AN=72106785&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- Sloan, Geoffrey. "Military Doctrine, Command Philosophy and the Generation of Fighting Power: Genesis and Theory." *International Affairs* 88, no. 2 (03, 2012): 243-263. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2346.2012.01069.x. http://o-search.ebscohost.com.ignacio.usfca.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=bth&AN=73522966&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- Smale, Alison. "Seeking Global Role, German Military Stumbles, Promptin Talk of More Spending." *The New York Times*, September 30, 2015, 2014, New York.
- Snyder, S. Elizabeth. "Possibilities for Peace: Germany's Transformation of a Culture of War." *Journal of Sociology & Social Welfare* 38, no. 2 (06, 2011): 181-198. http://osearch.ebscohost.com.ignacio.usfca.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=6284958&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- Spiegel Staff. "Germany's Disarmed Forces: Ramshackle Military at Odds with Global Aspirations." *Spiegel Online* (2014).
- ——. "Mother Angela: Merkel's Refugee Policy Divides Europe." *Spiegel Online* (September 21, 2015.
- Staigis, Armin. "Germany in a Changing World." *World Policy Journal* no. 3 (2014): 75. http://0-

- <u>search.ebscohost.com.ignacio.usfca.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsggr&AN=edsgcl.386655318&site=eds-live&scope=site</u>.
- Strack, Christoph. "Germany's Political Response to the Paris Attacks." *Deutsche Welle*, November 20, 2015.
- Syrien: Deutschland bricht aus US-Allianz gegen Russland aus. (2015, September 12, 2015). *Deutsche Wirtschafts Nachrichten*.
- Thomas, Andrea. "Germany Warns Allies on the Dangers of Escalating Military Role in Syria." *The Wall Street Journal*, 2014.
- Uhde, Peter E. "Establishment of Armed Forces." Federal Ministry of Defense 2015. http://www.bmvg.de/portal/a/bmvg/!ut/p/c4/TY1LDoMwDETPwgVimog06q6naOmmCsENlkhAwcD16ywqVU8af2YswwuE7A-KnmnJfoYn9IFuw6mGdESVKNPGWGhPKuIWJgoT47t68Ki3I6qwZOSqjJlJNBbPS1HrUniuzl6KOIpG6M3FdMZpNMZo0ToZqVa69h_r7OeqZeskoW2n2x_16RyhxwxrSu68N80Xr9Y4aw!!/.
- "Umfrage Deutsche Wollen Kein großeres Militärisches Engagement." YouGov. Accessed November 1, 2015. https://yougov.de/news/2014/01/31/umfrage-deutsche-wollen-kein-grosseres-militarisch/.
- "Umfrage Zu Auslandseinsätzen: Deutsche Lehnen Stärkeres Engagement in der Welt Ab." *Spiegel Online* (May 20, 2014).
- "Umfrage: Deutsche Gegen Mehr Militär-Einsätze." Merkur-Online, January 31, 2014.
- "Untertützung im Kamf gegen den Terror." Bundesregierung. Accessed November 28, 2015. http://www.bundesregierung.de/Content/DE/Artikel/2015/11/2015-11-26-von-der-leyen-steinmeier-militaerische-hilfe-frankreich.html.
- "Ursula von der Leyen." In *Encyclopaedia Britannica Online*: Encyclopaedia Britannica Inc., 2015.
- "Ursula von der Leyen Bundesministerin Der Verteidigung." Presse- und Informationsamt der Bundesregierung 2015.

 http://www.bundesregierung.de/Webs/Breg/DE/Bundesregierung/Bundeskabinett/UrsulavonderLeyen/_node.html.
- Von der Leyen, Ursula. *Von Der Leyen at the 10th Brussels Forum*. Statement by Dr. Ursula von der Leyen, Federal Minister of Defence, at the 10th Brussels Forum of the German Marshall Fund '(R)Evolution" on 20 March 2015 in Brussels. "The Evolving European Army". Brussels, Belgium: Federal Ministry of Defense, 2015.

69

- Weimberg, Gary and Catherine Ryan. *Soldiers of Conscience*, edited by Luna Productions. United States: 2007.
- Werkhäuser, Nina. "Bundeswehr Seeks Makeover as Attractive Employer." Deutsche Welle 2015. http://dw.com/p/1EU0c.
- ———. *Opinion: Bundeswehr Withdrawal the Right Move* Deutsche Welle, 2015.
- White Paper 2006 on German Security Policy and the Future of the Bundeswehr, (2006).
- Wiegand, Heiko. "The Federal Constitutional Court Provides Clarity on Bundeswehr Operations Abroad." German Federal Ministry of Defense2015. http://www.bmvg.de/portal/a/bmvg/!ut/p/c4/DcwxDsMgDEbhs_QCeO-WW6RdECSG_Ap1IttQqacvesO3PXrTTNJATY5LUqOVXhue-RvyZ9Rg2A7Wg-F2Xw2OMzDEkv9i6axxZ4lFwdPQ1Rkt5i4722AtyaxLtco6L073uTz-dYP0ig!!/.
- ———. "Parliamentary Army." Bundesministerium der Verteidigung. Accessed 2015. http://www.bmvg.de/portal/a/bmvg/!ut/p/c4/FcwxDoMwDEbhG8V7t56ihSUy9CdYxCZyDEg9fane8G2PRrozPqVwyG5c6U3DLIpSpOeJXWZVgKid72KiFbgljn-OblgOcPLC8uuE2NvbLCorMrQKuxYaYNRUnz8xrNMq/